
Email: committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk
Direct line: 01403 215465

222

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

Cabinet
Thursday, 26th January, 2017 at 5.30 pm
Conference Room, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham

Councillors: Ray Dawe Leader
Jonathan Chowen Deputy Leader and Leisure and Culture
Philip Circus Housing and Public Protection
Roy Cornell Waste, Recycling and Cleansing
Brian Donnelly Finance and Assets
Gordon Lindsay Local Economy
Kate Rowbottom Community and Wellbeing
Claire Vickers Planning and Development

You are summoned to the meeting to transact the following business

Tom Crowley
Chief Executive

Agenda

Page No.

1.  Apologies for absence

2.  Minutes 3 - 8

To approve as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 12th January 2017

3.  Declarations of Members' Interests
To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Cabinet

4.  Announcements
To receive any announcements from the Leader, Cabinet Members or the Chief 
Executive

5.  Public Questions
To receive questions from and provide answers to the public in relation to 
matters which in the opinion of the person presiding at the meeting are relevant 
to the business of the meeting

6.  Shared Support Services: Conclusions and Recommendations 9 - 16

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets

Public Document Pack



Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded)   Horsham.gov.uk   Chief Executive – Tom Crowley

2

7.  Housing Benefit Subsidy & Future of the CenSus Revenues and Benefits 
Service

17 - 22

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets

8.  Budget 2017/18 and Medium Term Financial Strategy to 2020/21 23 - 66

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets

9.  Statement of Community Involvement 67 - 96

Report of the Cabinet Member for Planning and Development

10.  Overview & Scrutiny Committee
To consider any matters referred to Cabinet by the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee:

a)  Member involvement in the s106 process 97 - 114

To receive a report on the response of the Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Development to the recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to alter the procedure in relation to how Members are involved in 
the s106 process

11.  Forward Plan 115 - 120

To note the Forward Plan

12.  To consider matters of special urgency



1

Cabinet
12 JANUARY 2017

Present: Councillors: Ray Dawe (Leader), Jonathan Chowen (Deputy Leader 
and Leisure and Culture), Philip Circus (Housing and Public 
Protection), Brian Donnelly (Finance and Assets), Gordon Lindsay 
(Local Economy), Kate Rowbottom (Community and Wellbeing) and 
Claire Vickers (Planning and Development)

Apologies: Councillor: Roy Cornell (Waste, Recycling and Cleansing)

Also Present: Councillors: Karen Burgess, Leonard Crosbie, Matthew French, 
Billy Greening and Nigel Jupp

EX/56  MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 24th November 2016 were 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Leader.

EX/57  DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS

There were no declarations of interest.

EX/58  ANNOUNCEMENTS

There were no announcements.

EX/59  PUBLIC QUESTIONS

No questions had been received.

EX/60  BROADBRIDGE HEATH LEISURE CENTRE

The Cabinet Member for Leisure and Culture and the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Assets reported that, following approval for the redevelopment of 
the leisure centre at Broadbridge Heath by Cabinet on 23rd November 2015 
and approval of the necessary budget by Council on 9th December 2015, the 
design phase of the project had been completed and approval was now being 
sought for the appointment of the building contractor for the construction of the 
leisure centre.

As the value of the contract exceeded the EU procurement threshold of 
£4,100,000, the works had been procured via the Official Journal of the 
European Union (OJEU) and tendered via the OJEU Competitive Negotiation 
route.

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Cabinet
12 January 2017

2

Of the five contractors selected for the invitation to tender stage, two had 
submitted tenders.  Details of the two contractors were submitted.

The evaluation process for the tenders had used a 60/40 quality/price split 
assessment, to ensure a blend between an assessment of the quality of the 
project and a competitive price.  The cost and quality elements of the tenders 
had been marked with Company A achieving a score of 99% and Company B 
87%.  On this basis it was therefore recommended that Company A should be 
appointed as the contractor for the construction of the Leisure Centre.

Members of the Finance and Assets and Leisure and Culture Policy 
Development Advisory Groups had been consulted and no adverse comments 
had been received.

RESOLVED

(i) That the tender received from Company A be approved and that 
they be formally appointed as the Council’s contractor for the 
construction of the Broadbridge Heath Leisure Centre.

(ii) That the Director of Community Services be authorised to enter 
into the contract for the appointment of Company A.

(iii) That the Director of Community Services be authorised to agree 
the final contract sum.

REASON

To appoint a contractor to undertake the construction of the Leisure 
Centre.

EX/61  CONTAMINATED LAND STRATEGY

The Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Protection reported that, in 
accordance with Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, the Council 
was required to produce a written inspection strategy to identify areas of 
contaminated land within the district.

The Council’s original contaminated land inspection strategy had been agreed 
in September 2001 and was reviewed and amended in 2007.  A further review 
and statutory consultation had recently been undertaken and a new 
contaminated land strategy was now recommended for approval and 
publication.

The Housing and Public Protection Policy Development Advisory Group 
supported the proposal

RESOLVED

Page 4



Cabinet
12 January 2017

3

3

That the new Contaminated Land Inspection Strategy be approved as 
set out in the report.

REASONS

(i) All local authorities are under a statutory duty to review their 
contaminated land inspection strategies.

(ii) The outcome of the consultation did not result in any objections to 
the proposed new inspection strategy.

EX/62  SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY STRATEGY

The Cabinet Member for Leisure and Culture reported that a Horsham District 
Council Strategy for Sport and Physical Activity had been produced which 
framed the Council’s priorities for Sport and Physical Activity for the period up to 
2031 within five work strands, with a simple overall aim which was ‘To increase 
participation in sport and physical activity and improve the health and wellbeing 
of people living, working or visiting the Horsham District’.

The strategy highlighted current priorities, actions and measures through which 
the successful delivery of the strategy could be measured and identified 
additional work being undertaken to refine future requirements for pitches and 
facilities.

The Leisure and Culture Policy Development Advisory Group supported the 
proposal.

RESOVED

That the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy be approved as set out in 
the report.

REASON

The Horsham District Planning Framework plans for the delivery of 
16,000 new homes between 2011 and 2031 and, although pressure on 
public finance is unlikely to abate during this period, the framework 
brings opportunities to secure and deliver new sports infrastructure. 
Given these factors, it is important that the Council has a clear vision of 
its sport and physical activity priorities and how these can be achieved.

EX/63  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

The Cabinet Member for Local Economy reported that Local Authorities needed 
to set out a clear economic vision and strategy for their area which positively 
and proactively encouraged sustainable economic growth.  Therefore, in 
December 2015, work had commenced on producing an Economic Strategy for 

Page 5



Cabinet
12 January 2017

4

the District.  The proposed new strategy set the key economic priorities for the 
District and identified the resources needed to deliver economic growth.

The five priority areas for the Economic Strategy were summarised as: inward 
investment; enterprise; skills and employment; infrastructure; and promoting the 
District offer.  The key economic challenges facing the District were also 
summarised.  

The strategy would set the context for the work of the Economic Development 
Team and would seek to deliver the economic growth the District needed.

The Local Economy Policy Development Advisory Group supported the 
proposal.

Members discussed a number of issues including the need for local planning 
policies that supported economic growth and development; the importance of 
good transport infrastructure including individual company travel plans; the 
need for fit for purpose business accommodation at all levels of operation; and 
the value of an attractive environment and adequate technology infrastructure in 
attracting and retaining businesses.

RESOLVED

That the Horsham District Economic Strategy be approved.

REASON

Approval of the Economic Strategy ensures that the priorities and actions 
are endorsed by the Council as a whole. It will be a visible document that 
demonstrates to businesses and residents, the commitment to securing 
economic growth for the District.

EX/64  CREATION OF A CABINET ADVISORY SUB-COMMITTEE

The Monitoring Officer reported that decisions about the acquisition of property 
investments were likely to be for financial amounts that exceeded the Council’s 
key decision threshold of £250,000.  Under the revised Constitution and 
Governance regulations agreed by Council such decisions were required to be 
made by the Cabinet collectively meeting in public.

Section 102 (4) of the Local Government Act provided for the Cabinet to appoint 
a Sub-Committee to advise it on any matter relating to the discharge of its 
functions.  In order to provide greater understanding and more certainty about 
property decisions, the Cabinet needed to receive advice from a wider group of 
members before making a key decision on property investment.  It was 
therefore recommended that a Cabinet Property Investment Advisory Sub-
Committee should be formed for this task.

Page 6



Cabinet
12 January 2017

5

5

The Leader advised Cabinet of his nominations for the membership of the sub-
committee in addition to the positions reserved to the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Assets, the Leader of the Council, the Deputy Leader and the 
Leader of the Opposition.

RESOLVED

(i) That a Property Investment Cabinet Advisory Sub-Committee of 
six Members of the council be created in accordance with the 
report.

(ii) That the Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets, the Leader of 
the Council, the Deputy Leader, the Leader of the Opposition and 
Councillors Nigel Jupp and Brian O’Connell be appointed to the 
membership of the Advisory Sub-Committee.

(iii) That the terms of reference for the Sub-Committee be agreed as 
set out in the report.

REASON

To discharge the purposes of the Constitution of the Council, by enabling 
decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively, and ensure that those 
responsible for decision making are clearly identifiable to local people.

EX/65  OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

There were no matters for consideration.

EX/66  FORWARD PLAN

The Forward Plan was noted.

EX/67  TO CONSIDER MATTERS OF SPECIAL URGENCY

There were no matters of special urgency to be considered.

The meeting closed at 6.31 pm having commenced at 5.30 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Cabinet 

26 January 2017
By the Cabinet Member for Finance & Assets
DECISION REQUIRED

Not Exempt 

Shared Support Services -  Conclusions and Recommendations

Executive Summary

In July 2016 Cabinet approved the development of final business cases for sharing 
Internal Audit, Human Resources and Payroll and Legal Services with Chichester and 
Arun District Councils.  In November 2016 Cabinet approved the Medium Term Financial 
Plan that included £250,000 savings from sharing these services.

On 13 December 2016 the Shared Services Steering Group met and concluded the 
savings from sharing these services were not sufficient for all Councils for them to 
recommend the final business cases to the Cabinets.  The Chief Executives met and 
agreed this position with the Leaders of the Councils on 9 December.

This report considers the need for these services to still deliver the savings included in the 
Medium Term Financial Plan.  It recommends that internal audit services are 
commissioned from a public sector audit partnership, Orbis, saving the Council £50,000 
and that Human Resources and Legal Services’ management modernise and redesign 
their services to deliver £100,000 and £150,000 savings respectively.  The report seeks 
approval from the Cabinet for use of Transformation Reserve funds to procure new IT 
systems in Human Resources and Legal Services to support these changes.

Recommendations

The Cabinet is recommended:

i) to accept the recommendation from the Shared Services Steering Group to not 
enter into a shared services arrangement with Arun and Chichester District 
Councils.  

ii)  to authorise the Human Resources and Organisational Development Manager to 
identify and procure a self-service Human Resources system with funds from the 
Transformation Reserve to facilitate internal savings from Human Resources 
Services; 

iii)  to authorise the Head of Legal and Democratic Services to identify and procure a 
self-service legal case management system with funds from the Transformation 
Reserve to facilitate internal savings from Legal Services; 

iv) to procure the internal audit service from the Orbis Partnership and delegate to 
Director of Corporate Resources to enter into the agreement on behalf of the 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



Council after being satisfied as to the terms and conditions and its delivery of the 
£50,000 savings;

v) to note the proposals to achieve the savings in Human Resources and Legal 
Services outlined in paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4 of the supporting document.

Reasons for Recommendations

i) the procurement of the new systems in Human Resources and Legal Services will 
allow these services to modernise, maintain quality and deliver savings to support 
the Medium Term Financial Plan;

ii) the transfer of internal audit services to Orbis will allow the service to deliver 
savings, maintain resilience, give the Council access to further audit specialisms 
and allow the service to be benchmarked from specialists the Council could not 
afford if operating alone.

          

Background Papers

Detailed business cases for shared services: Arun, Chichester and Horsham District 
Councils, November 2016, v4

Wards affected: all

Contact: Jane Eaton, Director of Corporate Resources, 01403 215300, 
jane.eaton@horsham.gov.uk

Page 10



1 Background Information

1.1 Over the last twelve months Chichester, Arun and Horsham District Councils 
worked together to explore sharing some back office services. Arun and 
Chichester considered joint ICT, Revenues and Benefits and Customer Services. 
Horsham worked with the other two councils on proposals to look at sharing 
Internal Audit, Human Resources and Legal services. 

1.2 In July the three Cabinets reviewed outline business cases for sharing these 
services.  They asked the project team to work up more detailed costs, benefits 
and savings allocations in detailed business cases.  Senior managers reviewed 
these detailed business cases in December 2016 and discussed conclusions with 
the three Councils’ Leaders and relevant Cabinet Members.  Leaders and officers 
agreed the work was valuable in analysing and comparing resources, operating 
methods and productivity.  However, they considered the projected scale and 
timing of savings and the difference in the Councils’ operating models, resource 
levels and systems did not justify the costs and risks of implementing shared 
services.  

1.3 The Shared Services project developed a ‘user pays’ savings model.  Each 
detailed business case projected annual revenue savings at the end of a five year 
period.  Applying this model, Horsham District Council’s projected annual revenue 
savings were £414,000 across the 3 services.  The table below summarises the 
risks and assumptions used to assess each business case and the likelihood of 
realising these savings:

Internal Audit £90,000 Based on Horsham reducing its annual audit days from 600 to 
400 and removing all specialist computer audit resource

Human 
Resources/Payroll

£182,000 Based on transferring payroll from Capita to Arun DC and 
making the Human Resources service a transactional service 

Legal £142,000 Based on existing workloads.  Would need significant change 
management to align all three Councils’ practices.  Once 
applied, this would increase Horsham’s share of the savings.  

Total £414,000  

1.4 Arun and Chichester Councils’ projected lower savings for Internal Audit than 
Horsham’s savings.  Arun’s savings’ for Human Resources were lower than 
Horsham’s and Chichester made no savings.   Chichester and Arun made more 
savings than Horsham for Legal Services.  However Chichester and Arun 
considered the changes in workload proposed were likely to favour Horsham and 
move savings from them to Horsham.  Of the 3 services only Internal Audit would 
have delivered its savings by 2018/19 with the other 2 services making no savings 
until 2019/20.

1.5 After assessing the risks, assumptions, implementation costs and payback periods 
for each business case, the Steering Group (Chief Executives and Portfolio 
Holders of each authority) recommended to not progress any of the business 
cases. The Group felt that Chichester and Arun could deliver most of the savings 
in house and Horsham deliver a good proportion of the potential savings.

1.6 One of the key drivers for considering shared services was the financial imperative 
to reduce operational costs.  Horsham District Council included a £250,000 

Page 11



savings target for these 3 services within the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
plan.  This target remains within the deficit reduction plan.  

2 Relevant Council policy

2.1 This report supports the Council’s policy of efficiency and balancing the budget 
over the medium term by seeking efficiency savings from Human Resources, 
Legal and Internal Audit services.

3 Details

3.1 Although the recommendation is not to proceed with shared services, Horsham 
District Council has gained very detailed benchmarking data and analysis of 
processes as part of this project.  This work will be the basis for redesigning 
existing operating models within the services and applying, where appropriate, 
those changes that can be delivered by Horsham District Council to meet, if not 
exceed, the £250,000 Medium Term Financial Plan commitment for these 
services.  It is also hoped to be able to deliver the savings at least a year earlier in 
each case than in the shared services model with Internal Audit delivering its 
savings in 2017/18,  Legal and Human Resources delivering its savings across the 
years 2017/18 and 2018/19.

3.2 Internal Audit

The benchmarking from this project showed that the Council, at 600 audit days, 
had an internal audit plan and team around 25% larger than Arun’s audit plan.  
Therefore it is proposed to give the team a target saving of £50,000.

The benchmarking also showed that while Horsham employs a Principal Internal 
Auditor with specialisms in computer audit and data analytics, the other Councils 
do not.  However, we are convinced that while Horsham does not need a “full-
time” specialist computer auditor it does need access to 3 particular specialisms:  
computer audit, contract audit and counter fraud at the correct proportions to the 
size of its operations.    

Alongside the work of setting up a partnership for internal audit the 3 Councils also 
considered the option of joining a larger local authority internal audit partnership.  
The benefits of such an approach were seen to be giving access in appropriate 
quantities to computer, contract and counter fraud specialists, resilience for small 
teams, access to modern technological solutions such as data analytics and 
access to more testing external scrutiny of the service rather than peer review.  
The Councils looked at 2 such partnerships:  the Southern Internal Audit 
Partnership based in Hampshire and the Orbis Partnership based in Surrey and 
East Sussex.  Both partnerships had similar benefits of size, quality, resilience and 
specialism. 

3.3 Human Resources and Payroll

The benchmarking from the project indicated the team was around 40% larger 
than the teams in Arun and Chichester.   There were 2 key reasons for the 
difference. First the Chichester service had a well-developed computerised self-
service system that managers could use without specialist assistance.  Second 

Page 12



Horsham District Council’s service included a more senior manager, an 
organisational development function and an equalities and wellbeing function the 
other teams did not. To move the service more in line with others it is proposed to 
give the team a target saving of £100,000 alongside a requirement to move to 
more self-service within 2 years.
 
Although the other teams ran their own payroll benchmarking indicated that our 
contract with Capita is an efficient way of delivering payroll and pensions advice.  
It is proposed therefore to leave this service as is for the next 2 years.

3.4 Legal Services

The benchmarking from the project indicated the team was around 70% larger 
than the Chichester team and slightly larger than the Arun Team.   This was not 
indicated in the savings in section 1.3 because these were based on continuing 
with the current level of service, hence Chichester’s concern they would lose their 
share of the savings if efficiencies from Horsham were subsequently recognised.  

There were 3 key reasons for the difference. First the Chichester service had a 
more advanced case management system that ensured all workload in the team 
was recorded and progress monitored. Second Chichester had actively ended the 
culture of over reliance on the Legal Team by practitioners in other services 
wanting their work checked to be on the safe side. This included ending the 
practice of lawyers attending Committee meetings as happens at Horsham, for 
example at Planning Committee.  Third Horsham District Council’s service tended 
to be more top heavy with senior lawyers often undertaking junior work amongst 
their critical high level work.   To move the service more in line with others it is 
proposed to give the team a target saving of £150,000 alongside a requirement to 
introduce a new case management system to better control the work.

4 Next Steps

4.1 Internal Audit

Having reviewed the benchmarking data and current staffing levels the optimal 
way forward for Horsham is to reduce audit coverage and audit resources. A 
consequence of reduced staffing is an unbalanced skills mix within the current 
team.  This can be resolved by engaging with one of the existing partnerships.  
This will allow us to reduce the size of our audit plan but retain an appropriate level 
of computer audit specialism.  It will also enable us to access contract audit and 
counter fraud specialists and a higher level of external scrutiny of our service.  

Of the 2 partnerships considered we will pursue the option of the Orbis 
partnership.  This is because a TUPE type transfer would be expected to apply 
and because of such a transfer having an individual element, staff retention is 
likely to be better with team members having an employer based in East Sussex 
or Surrey rather than one based in Hampshire.

The proposal includes one redundancy, a provisional arrangement in 2017/18, and 
a formal purchase of the services from the partnership no later than 1 April 2018.  
The formal agreement could begin earlier than this should the due diligence be 
completed and agreed by Orbis at an earlier date.

Page 13



4.2 Human Resources

The Human Resources service will remove 2 part-time posts by April 2017.  They 
will investigate and implement a self-service computer system by the end of March 
2018 and train all managers in its use, enhancing their Human Resources skills by 
the end of 2018/19.  The final savings will come out of Human Resources in March 
2019 ready for managers to operate with the smaller service from 1 April 2019.

4.3 Legal Services

Legal Services will reduce its Committee attendance immediately and start its staff 
reductions during spring 2017.  The team will identify and procure their new case 
management system during the spring and summer of 2017.  Management will 
monitor workload during the next year and work with colleagues across the 
Council to step away from over-dependence on the team.  

Legal Services hope to make some of their savings through additional income with 
target markets being developers and Parishes.  The team leader will work closely 
with the Future Horsham’s commercialisation work stream to deliver these 
savings.

5 Views of the Policy Development Advisory Group and Outcome of 
Consultations

5.1 The Finance & Assets PDAG had been updated on the progress of the business 
cases throughout the summer and autumn.  They discussed the recommendation 
from the Steering Group and next steps at their meeting on 19 December 2016.  
They supported the idea of a transfer of Internal Audit to Orbis.  The group felt 
Human Resources savings should come as early as possible.  The PDAG said 
any reductions in Legal Services should not impact on the Council’s ability to 
prepare s106 or CIL agreements and said it was important to maintain the quality 
of the service.  

5.2 This project did not require external consultation.  Staff were continually provided 
with updates as the project progressed using staff briefings by the Chief Executive, 
regular newsletters and reports to the Joint Employee Consultative Panel.  

5.3 Unison Branch Secretaries from each Council met with a lead Chief Executive and 
Project Lead Officers on a monthly basis during the process and were given the 
opportunity to raise questions or concerns which were formally addressed. 

5.4 Comments from the Senior Leadership Team and the Service Managers the 3 
services, including the Monitoring Officer, have been incorporated in the report.

6 Other Courses of Action Considered but Rejected

6.1 The alternative option would be to retain the existing operating models for the 
service areas within shared services.  The shared services programme has 
demonstrated opportunities to improve in-house processes and operating models 
to allow services to continue to provide a good quality service, whilst meeting the 

Page 14



£250,000 savings target.  If this exercise is not undertaken, the savings target will 
need to be achieved through efficiency savings in other service areas across the 
Council.

7 Resource Consequences

7.1 At their meeting in July, Cabinet authorised the release of £25,000 to fund 
Horsham District Council’s share of project resources and associated costs in 
compiling the detailed business cases, this was in addition to the original £20,000 
agreed by Cabinet in February.  Each Council equally contributed staff resources 
to the project and therefore did not recharge for this time.  The direct costs spent 
on the project were around £2,000 of Horsham’s contribution and the rest will be 
returned to the Transformation Reserve and will support the in-house change 
moving forward.

7.2 The proposed targets issued to the services for savings total £300,000.  This 
exceeds the £250,000 included in the MTFS and, if achieved, will contribute to the 
remaining budget gap for 2019/20 and 2020/21.

7.3 Around 6 posts will be removed as part of these budget reductions.  Any 
redundancies will be made by the Head of Paid Service in accordance with the 
constitution and consultation with staff and unions will take place in line with the 
Council’s organisational change procedures.

8 Legal Consequences

8.1 For Internal Audit the basis of the relationship with Orbis would be one of customer 
supplier.  It is likely the Council will do this by using Section 101 of the LGA 1972.  
This section of the Act allows a local authority to discharge any of its functions by 
another local authority and through Section 1 of the LA (Goods and Services) Act 
1970, where a local authority can enter into an agreement for the provision by 
another local authority of any administrative or professional services.  The 
Monitoring Officer has advised that the agreement would be between Horsham 
and one of the partner authorities e.g. Brighton & Hove City Council. We would 
expect the agreement would  reference that a named Head of Internal Audit was 
responsible for carrying out functions on behalf of and therefore accountable to 
Horsham District Council and attendance at all Audit Committee meetings.

8.2 There are no legal consequences of the current work in the Legal Services and 
Human Resources teams.  Procurement of new systems will be compliant with the 
Council’s procurement regulations and we do not expect the value of these 
systems to be high enough to need EU procurement compliance.

9 Risk Assessment

9.1 There are no community impacts or corporate risks in the decision not to proceed 
with a shared service.  

9.2 Reducing Human Resources and Legal Services does increase the risk of 
successful legal challenge including at employment tribunal.  However the 
transition phase of these projects including upskilling all managers will help 
mitigate this risk.

Page 15



9.3 Legal Services’ withdrawal from Committee meetings will increase the risk of 
decisions being postponed to seek legal advice.  This will be mitigated by 
upskilling the Democratic Services team in Constitutional advice and that the 
Council now has a simplified Constitution.

9.4 Commissioning internal audit from a larger partnership should reduce the team’s 
vulnerability to staff absence.  Smaller Legal and Human Resources teams will 
increase the vulnerability to service failure due to staff absence although this will 
be mitigated through management training and, in the Legal Team, asking all 
specialist lawyers to develop a second specialism.

10 Other Considerations

10.1 There are no Crime & Disorder; Human Rights and Sustainability impacts of this 
report.  Although the full details of the new Human Resources model are not 
complete a move towards a Chichester/Arun smaller service would be likely to 
lead to equality and diversity issues being managed by Service Managers and 
Team Leaders rather than retaining an equalities and diversity specialism. 

Page 16



Report to Cabinet 

26 January 2017
By the Cabinet Member for Finance & Assets
DECISION REQUIRED

Housing Benefit Subsidy & Future of the CenSus Revenues and 
Benefits Service

Executive Summary

Since 2004 the Council’s Revenues and Benefits service has been run by Mid Sussex 
District Council under the CenSus Partnership.

This report outlines on-going issues with loss of Housing Benefit subsidy.  It explains the 
work done so far, and in progress, to remedy these problems.  The report also refers to 
issues with the collection of business rates.  In light of the consultancy work completed for 
the Partnership, following Adur’s notice to withdraw, the report considers the way forward 
for Horsham.  It concludes the Council should seek to leave the partnership and find an 
alternative method for delivering the service and should take action to ensure that current 
issues are avoided in future.

Recommendations

That Cabinet is recommended:

i) to seek to withdraw from the CenSus revenues and benefits partnership;

ii) to ask management to prepare a report into the future options for the service for 
decision at its March 2017 meeting.

Reasons for Recommendations

To ensure the service is operated to optimise cost and quality in future. 

Background Papers

The Future of CenSus Revenues and Benefits – Welfare Reform Club
CenSus (Revenues and Benefits) Subsidy Review – Welfare Reform Club
Horsham NDR Analysis –Tim Delany, CenSus
Performance Figures Taxes & Benefits – Gareth Jones, Horsham Performance & 
Commissioning

Wards affected: all

Contact: Jane Eaton, Director of Corporate Resources, 01403 215300, 
jane.eaton@horsham.gov.uk

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



Background Information

1. Introduction and Background

1.1. In November 2015, following the annual audit of Housing Benefit Subsidy Payments 
undertaken by the external auditor on behalf of the Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP), the three councils in the CenSus Revenues and Benefits 
partnership received notice of losses of Housing Benefit subsidy due to the level of 
errors in the Councils’ claims for 2014/15.  Horsham’s 2014/15 claim was qualified 
and the level of overpayment to be recouped by the DWP was set at £190,000.  
This figure is extrapolated by the DWP from errors detected in a sample by the 
External Auditor.

1.2. This was the second year of such losses for Adur and Mid Sussex but the first for 
Horsham because the 2013/14 claim was qualified, but below the error threshold, 
so no extrapolation was made and only £5,000 subsidy was returned to the 
Department for Work and Pensions.  In February 2016 Adur District Council issued 
notice to Mid Sussex and Horsham District Councils of its intention to leave the 
CenSus Revenues and Benefits partnership in October 2017.  

1.3. On 22 March 2016 the management of the CenSus partnership and the Chief 
Executive of Mid Sussex District Council presented their action plan to remedy the 
error rate to the Finance & Performance Sub Committee. Changes proposed to 
reduce the error rate included:

 A dedicated review team to carry out reviews on all earnings cases within the 
caseload; 

 A second dedicated team to check a large proportion of all earnings cases 
actioned by the processing teams on a daily basis as a consequence of a new 
claim or a change of circumstance (these checks being carried out before 
payment etc. is released); 

 Additional checking of benefits overpayment cases, primarily of classification of 
the overpayment; 

 A more structured feedback loop to ensure that detailed information on errors 
made by individuals and errors made by ‘type’ were fed back to individuals, 
team leaders and the training team; 

 Outcomes discussed at individual 1:1s and by teams. The Benefits Manager 
and the Head of Service scrutinised and discussed outcomes and trends every 
month; 

 With support from the IRRV simplified guidance on the treatment of earnings 
was issued. An IRRV trainer has also delivered training to all benefits staff; 

 Accuracy training to help overcome transposition and inputting errors was 
delivered by a specialist training company throughout the year.

1.4. Given the timing of these changes, so late in 2015/16, they were unlikely to make a 
significant difference between 2015/16 and 2014/15 performance.  The bulk of 
improvements would be expected in 2016/17.

1.5. In summer 2016 CenSus appointed a firm of specialist consultants, the Welfare 
Reform Club, to review the service and subsidy issues arising.  The review by 

Page 18



Welfare Reform Club Limited was completed in November 2016.  It reported an 
exceptional focus on quality from the CenSus team but did not come up with any 
further ideas to resolve the error issue.

1.6. On 30 November 2016 the Council received notification from the external auditors 
that the Housing Benefit Subsidy claim for 2015/16 would be qualified due to the 
level of errors.  Because the level was above the error threshold the auditors expect 
the subsequent extrapolation by the Department for Work and Pensions to lead to a 
reduction in subsidy of around £249,000.  Mid Sussex and Adur’s 2015/16 claims 
are also qualified, although for a smaller sum than Horsham’s. Due to the loss on 
the 2014/15 claim, Horsham made a provision for an expected further loss of 
£200,000 for the 2015/16 claim.  The key area of error in 2015/16, as in previous 
years, is “earnings” cases.  These are working age people who are in work and 
represent about 35% of the whole caseload

1.7. During the summer of 2016 the Welfare Reform Club also reviewed the future for 
the CenSus partnership once Adur leaves.  They suggested 5 options for the future:

 Continuing with 2 partners.
 Looking for another partner.
 Mid Sussex District continuing as a processing unit and Horsham buying its 

service from them.
 Both Councils contracting the service from the private sector.
 Disbanding the service and each Council seeking its own new model.

The Welfare Reform Club’s report recommends the third option, setting up a 
contractual relationship between the 2 councils.  

1.8. Horsham’s internal audit team began an internal audit of the Housing Benefits 
service in November 2016.  Although not yet finalised initial random sample testing 
suggests there is a continued, but falling, error rate in the current financial year.  
Because we do not know which claims will be reviewed in the external auditor’s 
sample in autumn 2017 we are unable to tell whether this reduction in the error rate 
will reduce the subsidy loss or not for the 2016/17 year.

1.9. During November 2016 the Council’s productivity team compared performance of 
the revenues and benefits service to that of its statistical near neighbours, following 
concerns raised by the Director of Corporate Resources about business rates 
collection rates.  The work used the 3 commonly used indicators in the business:  in 
year council tax collection, in year business rates collection and average new 
benefits claim processing time.  Key findings of this work are:

Council Tax Collection

Horsham District Council collected 98.7% of the council tax which was due in 
2015/16. This rate is higher than the mean average for all English district local 
authorities, and Horsham District Council ranks in the highest quartile for this 
measure. It performs very near to the mean average for the nearest neighbours 
group.

Page 19



Business Rates Collection

Horsham District Council collected 97.5% of the business rates which were due in 
2015/16. This rate is among the lowest of all English district local authorities, with 
Horsham District Council being ranked 182 out of 201. It is also below the mean 
average collection rate for the nearest neighbours group. 

Benefits processing time

Horsham District Council took nineteen calendar days to process new housing 
benefit claims during 2016/17 quarter 1. This is quicker than the mean average for 
all English district local authorities, with Horsham District Council being ranked 53 
out of 201 authorities (where 1 is quickest). It is also faster than the average for the 
nearest neighbours group.  

2. Relevant Council policy

2.1. This report supports the Council’s policy of efficiency and balancing the budget over 
the medium term.  On-going error rates in the calculation of Housing Benefit, 
generating significant losses of subsidy each year, make the Council’s ability to 
balance its budget going forward more challenging.  The in-year business rates 
collection rate has an adverse impact on the Council’s cash flow.

3. Details

3.1. Immediate benefits subsidy problem

To improve the quality of the database the CenSus partnership has employed some 
agency benefits assessors to reassess every earnings claim.  The work of these 
assessors will be checked by management.  This should clean the database and 
mean underlying error rates are removed.  This should improve the situation in time 
to help the 2017/18 year and beyond. 

Checking and training regimes designed after the 2014/15 audit and outlined in 
section 1.3 continue.

3.2. Future of the Service

In the light of the difficulties the partnership is facing in solving the issues with 
housing benefit subsidy and business rates collections it is proposed the Council 
should not accept the Welfare Reform Club’s recommendation of buying the service 
from Mid Sussex but should look into alternative suppliers.

The Director of Corporate Resources applied to the Local Government Association 
for assistance with analysing the way forward for Horsham’s revenues and benefits 
service.  The Local Government Association provided the Council with a grant to 
fund one of their nominated consultants to help with the work.  The consultant has 
been on site in January developing an options appraisal of the choices the Council 
has outside the CenSus partnership.  The options appraisal will be presented to the 
30 March Cabinet.

Page 20



There are 3 main options the Council is likely to consider in this options appraisal:

 running the service itself;
 finding another partner, locally or further away;
 out-sourcing the service.

All options will incur exit costs that could be considerable.  

4. Next Steps

4.1. Immediate problem

The plan within CenSus is complete the reassessment of all earning claims by 31 
May 2017.

4.2. Future of the CenSus partnership

The report on the options will be completed for Cabinet on 30 March 2017.

Timescales on implementing the new model will vary depending on the type of 
model chosen.  An in house service could be in place by 1 April 2018.  An 
outsourced model, due to procurement rules, would be unlikely to be achievable 
before 1 October 2018.  A partnership would depend on the partner and the 
maturity of their operation.

5. Views of the Audit Committee and Outcome of Consultations

5.1. Because the benefit subsidy issue arose as part of an external audit the Committee 
received a briefing on 4 January.  The Committee noted the situation, expressed its 
concerns at the scale of the problems and its support for short and medium term 
work detailed in section 3 of this report.  

5.2. The Finance and Assets Policy Development Advisory Group supported the 
proposal to leave the CenSus Revenues and Benefits partnership.  The Group 
requested the March report contain details of the costs of the alternatives as part of 
the options appraisal.

5.3. The Monitoring Officer has been consulted on this proposal.  He has advised that 
there is a formal legal agreement between the Councils for the CenSus Revenues 
and Benefits Partnership and therefore if the decision is to leave the Partnership, 
then the Councils will need to ensure compliance with the legal formalities as set 
out in the legal agreement.

5.4. The Chief Executive has discussed Horsham’s plans to move away from the 
partnership with his counterpart at Mid Sussex District Council. This has included 
agreement to a number of guiding principles for the exit and transition period 
including cost minimisation, joint endeavours to improve the service and clean the 
databases during the transition period and setting realistic timescales.  Unions and 
staff at Mid Sussex have been told that Horsham’s Cabinet will consider the future 
of the service at tonight’s meeting.

6. Other Courses of Action Considered but Rejected

Page 21



6.1. All 5 options recommended by the Welfare Reform Club in section 1.6 were 
considered.  The options for remaining in partnership with Mid Sussex, or buying a 
service from them, were rejected because there is insufficient confidence in the 
service making the changes necessary to improve performance, and the Council 
cannot continue to sustain the level of losses arising from the earnings errors.

7. Resource Consequences

7.1. The Local Government Association has given the Council £6,000 to pay for a 
consultant to complete the options appraisal.   

7.2. It is unclear, at this stage, whether the new service can be provided within current 
budget or not.  Evidence from the Welfare Reform Club’s report suggests 
Horsham’s current service is just below average cost compared to its nearest 
neighbours.  These figures do not include the subsidy loss.

8. Legal Consequences

8.1. The legal consequences of leaving the CenSus revenues and benefits service are 
the Council will have to re-provide this statutory service at a cost currently unknown.  

9. Risk Assessment

9.1. There are considerable risks associated with remaining or leaving CenSus.

9.2. The remain risks are:

 The benefit subsidy issues continue and the Council continues to lose £200-
£250k a year.

 Business rates performance remains low and continues to fall.
 Mid Sussex seek a rapid exit from the arrangement at a future date.

9.3. The leave risks are:

 The benefit subsidy issues cannot be quickly turned around and the Council 
continues to lose £200-250k a year.

 Because there are no obvious reasons for the low business rates’ collection, 
rates performance remains low and continues to fall.

 Given the current performance levels in benefits accuracy and business rates 
collection, Horsham could find itself paying a premium price to re-provide at this 
time.

 As no supplier is likely to provide the service locally, the cost of transition, 
especially redundancy cost, could be high and there is a risk of a dip in 
performance in the early months of the new service.

10. Other Considerations

10.1. There are no crime & disorder; human rights; or sustainability issues arising from 
this report.  Equalities issues, especially access issues, will be considered carefully 
as part of any resupply.

Page 22



Report to Cabinet 

26 January 2017
By the Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets
DECISION REQUIRED

Not Exempt

THE 2017/18 BUDGET AND THE MEDIUM  TERM  FINANCIAL 
STRATEGY to 2020/21      

Executive Summary
This report sets out details of the proposed 2017/18 revenue and capital budgets. It also 
reviews the Medium Term Financial Strategy that was approved in November 2016 in light 
of the final 2017/18 budget and receipt of the Settlement. The Council is able to set a 
balanced budget for 2017/18, generating a small surplus which will help towards funding 
future transformation to maximise efficiency and effectiveness. 
The 2016 Autumn Statement did little to change the government’s policy of significantly 
reducing funding to local authorities in a bid to help reduce government debt. The pressure 
on Council finances remains as strong as ever. As the Council had already accepted the 
four year settlement in 2015/16, the settlement in December 2016 duly confirmed a 23.6% 
reduction in Settlement Funding Allocation in 2017/18 when compared to funding of £2.7m 
in 2016/17.Cummulatively, there will be a 62.3% reduction over the four year period by 
2019/20.  
The current budget estimate is for the Council to deliver a small surplus in 2018/19, 
breakeven in 2019/20 and have a deficit of £1.6m in 2020/21.  These projections are 
significantly lower than forecast this time last year as a result of the work done on the 
2017/18 budget and also by the Cabinet’s November 2016 decision to approve alternate 
weekly collection from Spring 2018, which should generate savings of £1m per annum. 
The Council plans to deliver savings and income generation through a combination of 
measures including; service and productivity reviews, shared services, procurement, 
income generation, and other efficiency measures. The current programme focuses on the 
period up to 2020, but this will help put the Council in good shape to also tackle the deficit 
in 2020/21.
The report sets out a series of prudential indicators that are a statutory requirement to 
demonstrate that the Council’s capital programme is affordable, and prudent in the context 
of the Council’s overall finances.  The report also includes a statement on the robustness 
of reserves in Appendix I.

Page 23

Agenda Item 8



Recommendations
Cabinet is recommended to propose the following for consideration by Council on 15 
February 2017:
i) That the level of Council Tax for 2017/18 increases from £137.17 by 2.5% to 

£140.60 at Band D.
(ii) That the net revenue budget for 2017/18 of £11.86m be approved (attached as 

Appendix A).
(iii) That Special Expenses of £280,319 (attached as Appendix D) and a Band D charge 

of £24.40 be agreed in respect of the unparished area for 2017/18.  
(iv) That the capital programme for 2017/18 (attached as Appendix E) be approved and 

that the indicative capital budgets in the programme for future years be noted. 
(v) That the projected future deficit on the revenue account in 2020/21 is noted and the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy continues to be reviewed and refined to ensure 
that decisions are taken to develop a balanced budget in 2020/21.

(vi) That the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement set out in Appendix F be 
approved.

(vii) That the prudential indicators and limits for 2016/17 to 2019/20 set out in Appendix 
G be approved.

(viii) To note the statement on the robustness of the level reserves in Appendix I.

Reasons for Recommendations
To meet the Council’s statutory requirement to approve the budget and the prudential 
indicators before the start of a new financial year.

Background Papers: Medium Term Financial Strategy 24 November 2016

Wards affected: All

Contact: Jane Eaton, Director of Corporate Resources x5300

Dominic Bradley, Head of Finance x5302

Page 24



Background Information
1 Introduction and background
1.1 This report sets out the Council’s budget requirement for 2017/18 for capital and 

revenue expenditure.  The budget is reviewed in the context of the projected outturn 
for 2016/17, future years’ projected deficits and the impact of those deficits on 
reserves.

1.2 The local government finance system is becoming increasingly complex. The 
difficulty of predicting what factors such as interest rates, grant funding and energy 
costs will be in two to five years’ time is further complicated by uncertainty regarding 
the financial impact of the Britain’s exit from Europe, the government’s welfare 
reform programme and future income from retained Business Rates. It is however 
fairly certain that the amount of money available to district councils will continue to 
reduce over the next three years. 

1.3 The current budget estimate is for the Council to deliver a small surplus in 2018/19, 
breakeven in 2019/20 and have a deficit of £1.6m in 2020/21.  These projections 
are significantly lower than forecast this time last year as a result of the work done 
on the 2017/18 budget and also by the Cabinet’s November 2016 decision to 
approve alternate weekly collection from Spring 2018 which should generate 
savings of £1m per annum.

1.4 This review ensures that the 2017/18 budget and resultant Council Tax level will be 
set within the context of the Council’s Corporate Plan priorities and the financial 
strategy in order to deliver a balanced budget, updated for the latest information 
and knowledge available to the Council. The report also sets out the prudential 
indicators that are used to measure the affordability of the Council’s capital 
programme.

2 Relevant Council policy
2.1 To deliver a balanced budget over the medium term. 

3 Details
Strategic political, economic and regulatory outlook

3.1 The UK economic outlook has been affected by the June 2016 vote to leave the 
EU. Whilst the long term future impact remains uncertain it should be noted that 
interest rate forecasts have been updated based upon outcomes to date, including 
the reduction of the Bank of England base rate, the widening of the quantitative 
easing programme which saw additional bond releases and the reduction in the 
credit rating of UK banks by investment firms. Interest rates are at historically low 
levels with significant increases now not predicted within the three year period of 
this medium term financial strategy. The value of the pound has also decreased 
significantly; by 20% against the U.S. Dollar and by 15% against the Euro. 
Conversely, the FTSE 100 share index has risen by around 10% since the 
referendum to approach 7,000. Inflation has started to increase in recent months 
putting pressure on expenditure, measured in December 2016 at 1.6% under the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) and 2.5% under the Retail Price Index (RPI). The 
impact from the cost of fuel is also slowly rising, which is also being affected by the 
decision of the Organisation of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC) to 
restrict oil barrel production.  

Page 25



3.2 Both the demand for the Council’s services and its income streams are affected by 
the general economic health of the District, and the prevailing interest rate has a 
direct impact on interest receipts. Therefore the uncertainty of the economic and 
regulatory outlook adds risk to the setting of a precise financial strategy. With this in 
mind, the assumptions within the budget and medium term financial strategy have 
been revisited in the sections below.
Finance Settlement 2017/18

3.3 The Council accepted the offer made by government in December 2015 of a four-
year settlement through to 2019/20 and this has been agreed. This provides a 
relative degree of certainty in that the revenue support grant and the baseline 
Business Rates funding reduction from £2.2m in 2017/18 to £1.4m in 2019/20 
shouldn’t get any worse during this period. However, this does not rule out 
additional responsibilities, costs and / or cuts in other areas being imposed. 

3.4 The 2016/17 settlement indicated that the Council’s spending power (as calculated 
by the funding assessment, Council Tax income and new homes bonus income) 
would decrease by £0.4m across the four year period to 2019/20, equating to a 
reduction of 2.9%.  This calculation included the government assumption that 
district councils would raise Council Tax by £5 per annum.  
Revenue Budget 2016/17

3.5 Budget holders have monitored income and expenditure against the 2016/17 
budget throughout the year. They have also continued to prepare and work up 
plans to address the future deficits and implement them on an ongoing basis. The 
estimated forecast outturn for 2016/17 at the end of month 9 is a surplus of around 
£250k.  

4 Update on the Medium Term Financial Strategy projections
4.1 The medium term financial strategy has been updated for the projected outturn for 

2016/17, the 2016 Autumn Statement, the December 2016 Finance Settlement for 
2017/18 and other known information. It assumes a Council Tax increase of 2% per 
annum based on the current rate of inflation, in the period 2018/19 through to 
2020/21. 
Table 1: medium term financial strategy  

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

£000 £000 £000 £000

Net expenditure 11,862 11,423 11,090 11,690

Funding: New homes bonus 700 400 200 0

                Council Tax 8,661 8,995 9,337 9,690

                Revenue Support Grant 149 0 0 0

                Transitional RSG 134 0 0 0

    Negative RSG grant /  
    additional ‘tariff’ payment 0 0 (695) 0

Page 26



                Baseline Business Rates 1,916 1,978 2,048 400

    Additional  Business  Rates 200 200 200 0

    Payment to parishes (10) 0 0 0

    Collection Fund surplus 182

Total Funding 11,932 11,573 11,090 10,090

Net (Surplus) / Deficit (70) (150) 0 1,600

4.2 The assumptions underlying the current medium term financial strategy projections 
are summarised in table 2 below and expanded upon in the paragraphs that follow:
Table 2: key budget assumptions used:

Interest rates

Inflation on net budget 2% per annum

Increase in salaries budget 1% in 2017/18 and thereafter

Contribution to pension fund 1% in 2020/21 and thereafter

Increase in Council Tax 2.5% in 2017/18 and 2% p.a. thereafter

Settlement Funding Assessment  Reducing by 40% from £3.549m in 2015/16 
down to £1.339m in 2019/20

Local Business Rates 100% retention of growth in business rates 
triggering a significant re-baselining in 2020

Increase in dwellings Net of around 1,100 per year 

New homes bonus - revenue Revenue tapering down to zero by 2020/21

Page 27



4.3 Economic forecasters are predicting a diverse range on inflation over the next three 
years, reflecting the uncertainty of the post-Brexit era. The medium term financial 
strategy currently budgets for a 2% increase in inflation on grounds that this is the 
minimum the Bank of England suggested in its November 2016 inflationary forecast 
inflation, rising to perhaps as much as 2.7% in 2017 and 2018.  Whilst income is 
also affected by inflation, inflation also increases our expenditure that offsets the 
increases in Council Tax and charges. The impact of inflation on the medium term 
financial strategy will be revisited on a monthly basis as the monthly statistics are 
released by the Office of National Statistics.

4.4 The Bank of England base rate has recently fallen to a historic low of 0.25%, 
affecting the Council’s income streams from investments. The Council has taken 
action over the past year to diversify the investment strategy into non-bank deposit 
holdings which should help to mitigate the effect, but nevertheless, this will impact 
on the Council’s ability to generate income from investments during the period.  
Economic forecasters are again divided on when an upturn in interest rates may 
occur. The medium term financial strategy includes only a small increase over the 
three year period.
Salaries

4.5 Local government pay is negotiated nationally and the Council has no direct 
influence on the settlement. The local government pay award of 1% in May 2016 
covered both 2016/17 and 2017/18. Given the potential prospect that inflationary 
pressures may drive further salary demands, further 1% pay increases in 2018/19 
through to 2020/21 have been budgeted as well. In expenditure terms, this equates 
to approximately £175k of additional expenditure per annum.  
Pension Fund

4.6 In December 2016, the Actuary completed their work on the triennial revaluation of 
the Pension Fund at 31 March 2016. At this snapshot date, the pension fund had 
seen an improvement to the previous funding deficit and is now fully funded. The 
valuation report therefore recommends that the employer’s contribution to the Fund 
remains at 20.5% for the three year period to 2019/20; all other things remaining 
fairly constant.  The interim assessments from the Actuary will be reviewed each 
year should a change to this three year approach be necessary. 

4.5 The Council’s prudent assumption is that by the time of the next triennial revaluation 
at 31 March 2019, a 1% employer’s contribution will again be required from 1 April 
2020. This is based on the experience that funding positions can quickly change, 
often to a deficit as the value of the assets and more importantly the value of 
liabilities can fluctuate with actuarial assumptions as well as market performance.  
Other cost pressures

4.6 The projected deficits also reflect increased additional costs in borrowing and 
principal repayment costs, Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), resulting from 
decisions to increase the expanded capital programme for projects such as the 
£12.3m Broadbridge Heath leisure centre and the £4.55m redevelopment of the 
Hop Oast depot.  
Council Tax 

4.7 Based on the current rates of inflation, it is proposed to increase Council Tax by 
2.5% in 2017/18 which equates to £3.43 per equivalent band D property. This 
raises an extra £210k. At £140.60 it remains the lowest Council Tax in West Sussex 
and in the bottom quartile of all district councils. 

Page 28



4.8 The medium term financial strategy assumes that Council Tax will rise in line with 
inflation each year over the period. Using an inflation rate of 2% as a proxy for 
future years, the compounded increase in Council Tax raises an additional £190k 
p.a. by 2020.  
Local Business Rates

4.9 From 1 April 2013 the structure of local government finance changed, with local 
authorities retaining a share of Business Rates collected in their area. The 
calculations are based on target rates of collection set by government and are 
somewhat complex, but resulted in the Council retaining around 5% of the £41m 
total collected, equating to around £2m. Local authorities can increase their 
business rate income by growing the business rate take in their area; conversely, if 
collections fall then local authorities bear an element of risk.

4.10 Historical data suggests a ‘flat’ picture with limited material Business Rates growth 
envisaged over the period of the medium term financial strategy, which is why the 
retained £200k additional business rate income remains static across the period to 
2019/20.  This area is a ‘momentum indicator’ where growth is more likely to 
continue where it is already taking place. At the moment, on average, every 
successful new business opening is offset by a conversion of a business premise to 
residential flats or a closure. In the first nine months of 2016/17, the rateable value 
declined by £664k. In the longer term, initiatives such as the development of North 
Horsham and the redevelopment of the old Novartis site may offer some upside but 
at the moment our economic growth as an area is way below the desirable level for 
affluence of its population. 

4.11 The Council is comparatively less at risk than other authorities as it has relatively 
few single significant sites in respect of business rate valuations. For example, it is 
not the site of a power station, airport, major retail park or regional distribution 
centre. Some risk does exist however, principally around outstanding rates appeals 
for which the Council would have to bear its share of lost revenue should those 
appeals prove successful. The Council had a provision of £2m for business rate 
appeals at 31 March 2016. The slow rate at which the Valuation Office is tackling 
the backlog of appeals makes the Council sceptical that the provision for appeals 
will fall, especially as a very high level of appeals against the 2017 revaluation 
listing is expected. 

4.12 Whilst the 2017 Valuation Office revaluation listing has increased the rateable 
value, the multiplier has fallen to compensate, with a planned neutral net effect 
across the country. A period of transition with a damping effect to limit some of the 
increases and decreases to businesses will come into effect from 2017/18. Based 
on our analysis, a relatively small increase in cost to the Council is expected as a 
result of these changes over the period of the medium term financial strategy. 

4.13 The government has been consulting on the future of Business Rates with the 
intention of allowing local government to retain 100% of locally collected rates by 
the end of this parliament as announced in 2013. This does not mean that the 
Council will get to keep the £41m that it currently collects from Business Rates. 
Business rate income will continue to be distributed around the country as before. 
The Council expects that any additional revenue will only replace reductions in 
revenue support grant and new homes bonus which are expected to fall 
significantly, but this is also likely to come with additional responsibilities that will 
give rise to additional costs. 

Page 29



4.14 Furthermore, in the longer term, the March 2016 budget announced that the 
increase in the Business Rates multiplier will be switched from RPI to CPI from 
2020. The multiplier is the annual increase in Business Rates determined by the 
government. CPI tends to go up more slowly than RPI so this change is likely to 
reduce the buoyancy in the Business Rates yield. Over time this will have a 
significant impact on the resources that are available to local government as a 
sector.

4.15 At this point it is difficult to calculate the effect of all these potential changes as not 
enough details are known but we can conclude that there is a high degree of 
uncertainty, especially beyond 2020.  The expectation in the medium term financial 
strategy beyond 2020 is that the baseline will be significantly rebased by 
government to a much lower starting level of around £0.4m per annum (around 1% 
of the business rates collected) with all current growth zeroed but without a negative 
revenue support grant payment. This would result in the Council’s income reducing 
by around £1.2m in 2020/21 compared to 2019/20. The Council will revisit these 
assumptions and the impact of the localisation of business rates as it learns more 
about how the scheme will work and the exact timing of the 2020 implementation. 
This will be fed into a future medium term financial strategy.
Dwellings

4.16 The District has seen housing growth over the last five years, helped by large 
developments such as those to the west of Horsham and south of Broadbridge 
Heath. The Council anticipates that the completion of these developments together 
with the delivery of new homes in Southwater and Billingshurst will continue to see 
growth in housing in the District at around 1,100 new dwellings each year over the 
medium term financial strategy period. The housing industry is of course though 
highly sensitive to economic factors. Therefore the medium term financial strategy 
also takes into account a more prudent view of the post-Brexit uncertainty and the 
likelihood that a recession will start to bite towards the end of the decade. 
New homes bonus

4.17 New homes bonus was designed by central government as an incentive payment to 
local authorities to stimulate housing growth in their areas. The amount paid is 
based on a calculation derived from Council Tax statistics submitted each October 
and was payable for the first time in 2011/12. Since then, following significant 
reductions in revenue support grant, it has been a major source of finance for many 
councils. 

4.18 New homes bonus is paid for each new property on the Council Tax valuation list 
and for empty properties brought back into use, with a small additional sum for 
affordable homes.  In two-tier local government areas this payment is currently split 
in the ratio 20% to county councils, 80% to district councils. It is not ring-fenced and 
can be used at the Council’s discretion.  Details on the amounts already paid to the 
Council are shown in Appendix H. 

4.19 Between 2013/14 and 2016/17, in response to the reduction in the revenue support 
grant, the Council allocated a total of £1.166m each year from new homes bonus to 
fund the shortfall in its revenue account and transferred any sums in excess of this 
level to a new homes bonus reserve. 

4.20 In December 2016 the government made changes to the mechanism of new homes 
bonus. Thus in 2017/18, the number of years for which the bonus is payable is 
reduced from six to five and payments will reduce to four years in 2018/19. A 0.4% 
baseline, which needs to be exceeded before any new homes bonus payments are 

Page 30



made, was also introduced. For 2017/18, measured against the total band D 
equivalents in the district, 0.4% equates to approximately 240 additional houses a 
year before we receive anything. 

4.21 The government retained the option of making adjustments to the baseline in future 
years. Further consultation on new homes bonus will take place over the next 12 
months. Future variations to the baseline are therefore expected. On the Council’s 
current number of band D equivalent dwellings, an increase in the baseline of 0.1% 
is approximately equivalent to 60 houses. All other things remaining equal, this 
would result in a reduction in new homes bonus of approximately £92k from 
2017/18 levels. 

4.22 In 2015, in response to growing uncertainty surrounding the future of new homes 
bonus, the Council decided to reduce its reliance on new homes bonus to support 
revenue by tapering this down to zero over the period from 2017/18 to 2019/20. In 
addition, the Council is taking measures to increase income and phase in additional 
spending reductions to balance its budget. Therefore, as the first part of this 
tapering, in 2017/18, only £0.7m of new homes bonus will be used to support 
revenue. 

4.23 At 31 March 2016, the new homes bonus reserve stood at £3.7m. It is expected to 
be £7m at the end of 2017/18 after the allocation of £4m to the new Broadbridge 
Health leisure centre. However, while there is now less uncertainty in the medium 
term that new homes bonus will continue, albeit with further changes, given the 
government's aim to eliminate the national deficit, new homes bonus cannot be 
considered a permanent source of council income and thus it remains prudent to 
use it for purposes other than as a revenue stream and achieve a balanced budget 
without it. 

4.24 Under the current assumptions the forecast is that the new homes bonus reserve 
will grow, so consideration should now be given to developing a policy for the best 
use of it to help the Council and district in the longer term. It is suggested that the 
key aims of such a policy should be to strengthen the Council’s ability to generate 
income from appropriate investments in order to receive income to support future 
service delivery and secure the delivery of infrastructure to serve the needs of the 
district's residents. It is proposed that the policy should be developed early in 
2017/18.
Alternate weekly collection

4.25 At the 24 November 2016 meeting, Cabinet approved the introduction of alternate 
weekly collections for residual household waste from Spring 2018 and also 
approved plans to procure a rear-loading vehicle fleet to replace the current ageing 
fleet which is coming to the end of its useful economic life. Estimated combined 
savings of around £1m per year compared to the projected budget for 2018/19 have 
been included in the medium term financial strategy from 2018/19.  This has 
enabled the 2018/19 budget to be balanced and makes balancing future budgets in 
the medium term financial strategy much more achievable.  

5 Draft Revenue Budget for 2017/18
5.1 The 2017/18 budget has been prepared following a detailed “Budget Challenge” 

with Service Managers challenged to increase revenue streams and reduce 
expenditure. The challenge process is there to ensure that excessive budgeting is 
avoided, additional income is found and efficiency savings are made. It also 
ensures that adequate resourcing is provided to meet service delivery items. 

Page 31



5.2 The budget requirement is for £11.86m.  The detail of the revenue budget is shown 
in Appendix A.  The budget is balanced and a small transfer of £70k to general 
reserves is envisaged. We are including £0.7m of new homes bonus funding in 
revenue in 2017/18. This is in line with the Council plan to taper revenue reliance on 
new homes bonus to zero by 2020/21 from the £1.166m that was taken into the 
revenue budget in 2016/17. 

5.3 The main items of growth and savings in the 2017/18 budget are detailed in 
Appendix B. Salaries remain a significant cost pressure in 2017/18 relating to a 1% 
pay award to staff and a number of increments. However by reducing posts and 
hours, the Council has managed to reduce the salaries bill (excluding 
apprenticeships) by around £220k. 

5.4 Other significant items of growth include litter picking safety requirements when 
working on the side of the districts dual carriageways, the creation of a new district 
arts and heritage strategy to uplift awareness of the arts within the district, and the 
increased revenue costs of the capital programme. 

5.5 The significant areas of revenue growth include further income from the property 
investment fund, a more expansive investment strategy, expansion of trade waste 
including the bulky bag scheme, a £2 increase in the price of garden waste 
collection and the introduction of rural car parking charges alongside additional 
urban car parking income volumes. In total, the additional income and savings 
generated exceeds the cost pressures and the net budget at £11.86m requirement 
is £0.7m lower than the £12.55m from the previous year. 

5.6 The budget also includes £6k of grants to community partnerships and £249.5k of 
grants to the voluntary groups, the largest being £94k to the Citizen Advice Bureau 
in Horsham. A full list is included in Appendix C. 

6 Special charge
6.1 Details of the Special Charge expenditure of £280,319 are included in Appendix D.
6.2 As a result of the changes to council tax benefits, the tax base of the unparished 

area reduced in 2013/14.  To ensure comparability with the funding of the parishes, 
an element of the Council Tax Support Grant needs to be attributed to the 
unparished area, a sum of £1,230. 

6.3 It is currently proposed that the Special Charge for 2017/18 is set at £24.40, raising 
a sum of £279,089. This, with the addition of the grant, is sufficient to fund the 
proposed Special Expenses. The increase in the special charge was discussed with 
the Neighbourhood Councils at the end of November 2016. 

7 Council Tax for 2017/18  

2017/18 2016/17

£000
 

£000

11,862 Net expenditure 12,546

70 Contribution to/(from) general reserves 177*

11,932  12,723

(149) Revenue support grant (825)

Page 32



(134) Transitional grant (one-off funding for two years) (134)*

10 Less parish share of Council Tax support grant 49

(4,815) New homes bonus (4,398)

4,115 Less contribution to new homes bonus reserve 3,232

(1,916) Business Rates retention scheme baseline (1,878)

(200) Business Rates retention scheme net additional 
business rates (400)

8,844 Expenditure to be financed from District Council Tax 8,369

(279) Less funding by Special Charge taxpayers (265)

(182) Less share of estimated surplus on Collection Fund (120)

8,384 Expenditure to be funded from District Council tax 7,984

59,630 Estimated band D equivalent properties 58,208 

£140.60 Council Tax at band D £137.17

£2.70 Cost per week at band D £2.64

* Amended to be inclusive of the £134k one-off transitional funding which arrived after the 2016/17 
budget was set. 

8 Capital Budget
8.1 The draft capital programme is attached as Appendix E (i).  This includes changes 

to the programme approved during the year and an estimate of the likely budget 
that has been re-profiled from 2016/17 to 2017/18.  The new programme for 
2017/18 is for approval by full Council. Budgets for future years are included to 
indicate the scale of provision which may be required to maintain the life of the 
Council’s assets and meet the aspirations in the District Plan.  

8.2 The Council’s project management methodology will be applied to projects detailed 
in the Capital Programme for 2017/18.  Business cases are completed to ensure 
that decisions taken by the Council represent Value for Money.

8.3 Of the £23m capital programme proposed to be delivered in 2017/18, the majority 
has already been approved in preceding years such as the schemes on the 
Broadbridge Heath leisure centre and the Hop Oast redevelopment.  2017/18 
includes a straight line profile £3m of the five year £15m property investment fund 
programme. There are also fifteen other new schemes totalling £3.5m of which 
£2.4m has identified funding sources, with the remaining £1.1m currently unfunded. 
Summary details of the new schemes can be found within Appendix E (ii). 
Minimum Revenue Provision

8.4 The Council is required to set aside funds to repay the borrowing need each year 
through a revenue charge called the minimum revenue provision.  Regulations have 

Page 33



been issued which require full Council to approve a statement of the provision in 
advance of each year and the statement is shown in Appendix F.
Prudential indicators

8.5 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to adopt the CIPFA Prudential 
Code (2011) and produce prudential indicators.  The objectives of the Prudential 
Code are to ensure, within a clear framework, that the capital investment plans of 
local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury 
management decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. 
This report revises the indicators for 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19 and introduces 
new indicators for 2019/20.  The Council is asked to approve the indicators set out 
in Appendix G to be adopted. The individual indicators are discussed below.
Capital expenditure plans

8.6 The first prudential indicator is the Council’s capital expenditure plans and how they 
will be financed.  Appendix G shows the projections and the Council is asked to 
approve the estimates as the first prudential indicator.  This is the impact of the 
Capital Plans set out in Appendix E, the anticipated financing and the resultant 
financing need.
The Council’s borrowing need, the Capital Financial Requirement

8.7 The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financial Requirement.  
This is the total outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for 
from either revenue or capital resources.  It is essentially a measure of Council’s 
underlying borrowing need. 
Gross debt and the Capital Financing Requirement

8.8 This indicator is designed to show that borrowing is only for capital purposes by 
showing gross borrowing against the Capital Financial Requirement.  
Limits to borrowing activity and affordability 

8.9 The first two prudential indicators cover limiting levels of debt and final two 
indicators are designed to assess the affordability of the capital investment plans.  
Borrowing is subject to two limits and both are increasing over the period shown as 
the Council’s need to borrow increases. Affordability is dealt with in two indicators 
which show estimates of the ratio of financing costs to the net revenue stream and 
the incremental impact of the capital decisions on the Council Tax.  The estimates 
are set out in Appendix G and the Council are asked to adopt them as the final 
group of prudential indicators.

9 Actions taken 
9.1 The Council has been working on ideas for several months to ensure that it can 

continue its business transformation journey to meet the demands and expectations 
of its customers in the face of financial and demographic pressures. The current 
transformation programme is called “Future Horsham” and will deliver a stronger 
organisation which will be more productive and better equipped to serve customers. 
It will also help to protect front-line services whilst ensuring that the Council has a 
strong and responsive support services. 

9.2 As well as identifying around £1.4m of transformational efficiencies from self-
service, shared services, changing ICT technology, contract reviews and redesign 
of business processes, the Council has also identified around £1.8m of new income 
sources and additional income expected from a growth in the number of users.  

Page 34



9.3 Whilst there will be a cost in implementing the transformation for which £0.5m each 
year is envisaged, the transformation will help protect the level of general fund 
reserves as set out in Appendix I. The Council will continue to review potential 
actions that it could take to help pay towards further transformation and / or income 
generating ideas to help work towards balancing the deficit in 2020/21. These will 
be brought back in the next medium term financial strategy. 

10 Risks
10.1 The medium term financial strategy takes a prudent but balanced view of the 

financial future, but continuing to take further action is also important to also help 
mitigate the risks that the Council faces over the medium term. These risks are set 
out in summary below and include:

 late delivery of savings / income 
 lower savings or income as it can’t be delivered to the size / scale envisaged
 income may be affected by external factors such as a recession. A recession is 

probably due towards the end of the decade
 significant uncertainty from the impact of Brexit and after the current settlement 

period beyond 2020.
 further or steeper funding cuts / to help government meet their deficit reductions 

targets. 
 legislation forcing local government to pick up additional responsibilities that we 

don’t yet know about
 growth, from changing local factors for which we have no control, such as 

potentially two new cinemas coming to Horsham and the impact that this might 
have on the income at the Capitol for example. 

11 Next steps
11.1 The Council meeting on 15 February 2017 will set the Council Tax for 2017/18. 

12 Views of the Policy Development Advisory Group and outcome of 
consultations

12.1 The proposed budget, medium term financial strategy and assumptions were 
considered by the Finance and Assets Policy Development and Advisory Group at 
its meeting on 19 December 2016 and the Group was supportive of the proposed 
strategy.

12.2 A seminar for all Members was held on 10 November 2016 to allow all Members the 
opportunity to discuss and review the medium term financial strategy proposals in 
advance of the 2017/18 budget setting process. The medium term financial strategy 
was also discussed at Cabinet on 26 November 2016. The Leader and Deputy were 
also briefed on the 2017/18 budget on 15 December 2016 and updated again on 5 
January 2017. 

12.3 The Chief Executive, Directors and the Head of Finance have been extensively 
involved in preparing the medium term financial strategy and are fully supportive of 
its contents. The Monitoring Officer has also been consulted during the preparation 
of the document and is supportive of its contents.

13 Other courses of action considered but rejected

Page 35



13.1 Not taking actions set out in this report would put at risk the ability of the Council to 
balance the budgets in 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/10 or to reduce the budget 
deficit projected for 2020/21. Therefore, not taking any action has been rejected.  

14 Resource consequences
14.1 The Future Horsham changes will lead to a reduction in the size of the workforce 

over the next three years. In December 2016, Horsham District Council employed 
471 staff in total. This constituted 413 full time equivalent (FTE) posts. The precise 
figure of reductions, currently estimated at 25 posts, will be firmed up as detailed 
plans for the individual elements are finalised. 

14.2 In accordance with the Organisational Change Policy the Council will take steps to 
avoid compulsory redundancies as far as possible through a combination of 
vacancy control, redeployment and, in appropriate cases, voluntary redundancy. 
Five redundancies were made in the period from September 2016 to December 
2016. 

15 Legal consequences
15.1 There are no legal consequences as a result of this report.  

16 Risk assessment
16.1 The Council’s reliance on central government controlled funding and balancing the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy is captured on the Corporate Risk Register at 
CRR01. This is regularly reviewed and updated and is monitored at Audit 
Committee on a quarterly basis.

17 Other considerations
17.1 There are no consequences of any action proposed in respect of Crime & Disorder; 

Human Rights; Equality & Diversity and Sustainability.  

Page 36



BUDGET SUMMARY 2017-2018           Appendix A 
 Original Direct Transport Supplies Net 
 Budget Employee Premises and Plant and Contract Capital Gross Expenditure 
 2016-2017 Service Expenses Expenses Expenses Services Payments Costs Income Expenditure 2017-2018 

 BUSINESS TRANSFORMATION CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 134,645 Business Transformation 0 0 0 0 0 

 134,645 BUSINESS TRANSFORMATION 0 0 0 0 0 

 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 259,420 Chief Executive Office 258,345 1,990 260,335 260,335 

 122,770 Democratic Rep 22,150 105,700 127,850 127,850 

 382,190 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICE 280,495 107,690 388,185 388,185 

 COMMUNICATIONS CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 293,655 Communications 309,335 150 112,300 -15,000 421,785 406,785 

 293,655 COMMUNICATIONS 309,335 150 112,300 -15,000 421,785 406,785 

 810,490 CHIEF EXECUTIVE 589,830 150 219,990 -15,000 809,970 794,970 

 03 January 2017 Page 1 of 10 

P
age 37



 Original Direct Transport Supplies Net 
 Budget Employee Premises and Plant and Contract Capital Gross Expenditure 
 2016-2017 Service Expenses Expenses Expenses Services Payments Costs Income Expenditure 2017-2018 

 COMMUNITY & CULTURE COMMUNITY SERVICES 

 281,690 Capitol 506,790 291,258 1,500 888,540 -1,405,070 1,688,088 283,018 

 152,705 COMMUNITY & CULTURE 113,015 200 101,490 0 214,705 214,705 

 513,802 Community Development 602,725 10,250 10,150 471,593 0 -555,856 1,094,718 538,862 

 263,435 Community Safety 374,410 1,700 20,150 76,690 25,000 -226,170 497,950 271,780 

 -54,945 Leisure Services 51,550 106,950 1,310 103,780 215,930 -646,605 479,520 -167,085 

 248,710 Museums 147,210 76,490 100 46,940 -36,250 270,740 234,490 

 1,069,970 PARKS & COUNTRYSIDE SERVICES 620,010 345,380 2,960 185,300 312,160 -461,230 1,465,810 1,004,580 

 2,475,367 COMMUNITY & CULTURE 2,415,710 832,028 36,370 1,874,333 553,090 -3,331,181 5,711,531 2,380,350 

 CUSTOMER SERVICES COMMUNITY SERVICES 

 396,305 Customer Services 326,420 17,820 -5,375 344,240 338,865 

 396,305 CUSTOMER SERVICES 326,420 17,820 -5,375 344,240 338,865 

 DIR OF COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMUNITY SERVICES 

 125,290 Dir Of Community Services 125,210 200 1,120 126,530 126,530 

 03 January 2017 Page 2 of 10 

P
age 38



 Original Direct Transport Supplies Net 
 Budget Employee Premises and Plant and Contract Capital Gross Expenditure 
 2016-2017 Service Expenses Expenses Expenses Services Payments Costs Income Expenditure 2017-2018 

 125,290 DIR OF COMMUNITY SERVICES 125,210 200 1,120 126,530 126,530 

 ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES/LICENSING COMMUNITY SERVICES 

 639,735 Environmental Health/Licensing 1,084,455 2,000 15,500 208,680 -634,355 1,310,635 676,280 

 639,735 ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES/LICENSING 1,084,455 2,000 15,500 208,680 -634,355 1,310,635 676,280 

 HOUSING COMMUNITY SERVICES 

 10,000 Housing 5,000 5,000 5,000 

 574,590 Housing Needs 435,020 5,000 5,500 243,780 -136,000 689,300 553,300 

 -394,510 Housing Services 9,750 118,390 16,430 -743,000 144,570 -598,430 

 190,080 HOUSING 444,770 123,390 5,500 265,210 -879,000 838,870 -40,130 

 PARKING SERVICES COMMUNITY SERVICES 

 362,160 Parking 378,350 135,940 514,290 514,290 

 -243,010 Parking services 193,110 2,000 59,970 -524,210 255,080 -269,130 

 77,268 Rural car parks 85,553 83,900 -339,240 169,453 -169,787 

 -2,650,015 Urban Car Parks 805,655 71,220 -3,727,427 876,875 -2,850,552 

 03 January 2017 Page 3 of 10 

P
age 39



 Original Direct Transport Supplies Net 
 Budget Employee Premises and Plant and Contract Capital Gross Expenditure 
 2016-2017 Service Expenses Expenses Expenses Services Payments Costs Income Expenditure 2017-2018 

 -2,453,597 PARKING SERVICES 571,460 891,208 2,000 351,030 -4,590,877 1,815,698 -2,775,179 

 STREET SCENE & FLEET COMMUNITY SERVICES 

 923,145 Litter & Cleansing 796,297 3,200 8,250 260,919 -32,500 1,068,666 1,036,166 

 102,180 REFUSE DEPOTS 102,327 14,855 117,182 117,182 

 1,812,030 Vehicle & Plant 255,140 1,570,060 43,050 1,868,250 1,868,250 

 2,837,355 STREET SCENE & FLEET 1,051,437 105,527 1,578,310 318,824 -32,500 3,054,098 3,021,598 

 WASTE & RECYLING COMMUNITY SERVICES 

 504,358 Operations 2,372,211 11,800 7,400 202,580 30,000 -2,369,362 2,623,991 254,629 

 -195,819 Trade Waste & Recyling 237,445 1,000 416,190 -1,051,885 654,635 -397,250 

 308,539 WASTE & RECYLING 2,609,656 11,800 8,400 618,770 30,000 -3,421,247 3,278,626 -142,621 

 4,519,074 COMMUNITY SERVICES 8,629,118 1,965,953 1,646,280 3,655,787 583,090 -12,894,535 16,480,228 3,585,693 

 03 January 2017 Page 4 of 10 

P
age 40



 Original Direct Transport Supplies Net 
 Budget Employee Premises and Plant and Contract Capital Gross Expenditure 
 2016-2017 Service Expenses Expenses Expenses Services Payments Costs Income Expenditure 2017-2018 

 AUDIT CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 183,750 Audit 193,775 300 2,075 0 196,150 196,150 

 183,750 AUDIT 193,775 300 2,075 0 196,150 196,150 

 CENSUS ICT CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 732,577 CENSUS ICT 1,462,650 8,000 1,229,015 40,800 -1,999,648 2,740,465 740,817 

 100,000 CENSUS PROJECTS 13,000 0 13,000 13,000 

 832,577 CENSUS ICT 1,462,650 8,000 1,242,015 40,800 -1,999,648 2,753,465 753,817 

 COMMISSIONING CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 289,020 Policy And Performance 258,160 3,850 262,010 262,010 

 69,565 Procurement 96,805 260 5,540 -34,385 102,605 68,220 

 358,585 COMMISSIONING 354,965 260 9,390 -34,385 364,615 330,230 

 DIR RESOURCES CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 175,000 Benefit Payments 250,000 31,490,000 -31,530,000 31,740,000 210,000 

 1,038,420 Census Revs & Bens 1,375,420 -310,000 1,375,420 1,065,420 

 03 January 2017 Page 5 of 10 

P
age 41



 Original Direct Transport Supplies Net 
 Budget Employee Premises and Plant and Contract Capital Gross Expenditure 
 2016-2017 Service Expenses Expenses Expenses Services Payments Costs Income Expenditure 2017-2018 

 125,230 Dir Resources 125,850 740 126,590 126,590 

 -515,754 HDC Revs & Bens 70,170 -581,536 70,170 -511,366 

 822,896 DIR RESOURCES 125,850 1,696,330 31,490,000 -32,421,536 33,312,180 890,644 

 FINANCE CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 925,580 Finance Accountancy 713,510 240 110,360 18,000 -16,000 842,110 826,110 

 990,050 Finance Corporate 567,746 290,500 1,061,000 -576,500 1,919,246 1,342,746 

 1,915,630 FINANCE 1,281,256 240 400,860 18,000 1,061,000 -592,500 2,761,356 2,168,856 

 HDC ICT CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 736,250 HDC ICT 448,910 1,500 405,735 0 856,145 856,145 

 146,250 HDC PROJECTS 156,250 156,250 156,250 

 882,500 HDC ICT 448,910 1,500 561,985 0 1,012,395 1,012,395 

 HUMAN RESOURCES & ORG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 37,030 Equalities 40,860 250 300 -8,300 41,410 33,110 

 502,160 Human Resources 453,710 500 50,090 504,300 504,300 

 03 January 2017 Page 6 of 10 

P
age 42



 Original Direct Transport Supplies Net 
 Budget Employee Premises and Plant and Contract Capital Gross Expenditure 
 2016-2017 Service Expenses Expenses Expenses Services Payments Costs Income Expenditure 2017-2018 

 539,190 HUMAN RESOURCES & ORG DEVELOPMENT 494,570 750 50,390 -8,300 545,710 537,410 

 LEGAL & DEMOCRATIC CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 778,170 Democratic Services 285,190 22,250 533,430 -8,500 840,870 832,370 

 584,870 Legal 689,790 100 56,510 -127,500 746,400 618,900 

 1,363,040 LEGAL & DEMOCRATIC 974,980 22,350 589,940 -136,000 1,587,270 1,451,270 

 6,898,168 CORPORATE RESOURCES 5,336,956 33,400 4,552,985 31,548,800 1,061,000 -35,192,369 42,533,141 7,340,772 

 03 January 2017 Page 7 of 10 

P
age 43



 Original Direct Transport Supplies Net 
 Budget Employee Premises and Plant and Contract Capital Gross Expenditure 
 2016-2017 Service Expenses Expenses Expenses Services Payments Costs Income Expenditure 2017-2018 

 BUILDING CONTROL PLANNING , ECON DEV, PROPERTY 

 -41,160 Building Control 735,350 4,300 18,330 74,760 -853,890 832,740 -21,150 

 -41,160 BUILDING CONTROL 735,350 4,300 18,330 74,760 -853,890 832,740 -21,150 

 DEVELOPMENT PLANNING , ECON DEV, PROPERTY 

 172,090 Development 1,559,910 1,500 7,450 496,030 -1,709,250 2,064,890 355,640 

 172,090 DEVELOPMENT 1,559,910 1,500 7,450 496,030 -1,709,250 2,064,890 355,640 

 DIR OF PLANNING, ECON DEV & PROP PLANNING , ECON DEV, PROPERTY 

 124,130 Dir Plan, Ed, Prop 125,370 125,370 125,370 

 124,130 DIR OF PLANNING, ECON DEV & PROP 125,370 125,370 125,370 

 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING , ECON DEV, PROPERTY 

 61,390 Economic Devel Mgr 0 0 0 

 211,095 Economic Development 199,800 165 1,500 64,275 -7,800 265,740 257,940 

 141,300 Town Centre Mgt 86,100 11,920 250 80,680 -49,800 178,950 129,150 

 23,250 Visitor Economy 16,000 6,000 22,000 22,000 

 03 January 2017 Page 8 of 10 

P
age 44



 Original Direct Transport Supplies Net 
 Budget Employee Premises and Plant and Contract Capital Gross Expenditure 
 2016-2017 Service Expenses Expenses Expenses Services Payments Costs Income Expenditure 2017-2018 

 437,035 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 285,900 28,085 1,750 150,955 -57,600 466,690 409,090 

 PROPERTY & FACILITIES PLANNING , ECON DEV, PROPERTY 

 526,440 Buildings 346,530 151,500 498,030 498,030 

 -2,312,350 Investment Properties 435,580 100,160 10,350 -3,130,750 546,090 -2,584,660 

 670,290 Properties & Facilities 528,180 1,720 90,130 -700 620,030 619,330 

 79,820 Public Realm 90,010 4,860 -62,650 94,870 32,220 

 -1,035,800 PROPERTY & FACILITIES 528,180 872,120 1,720 346,650 10,350 -3,194,100 1,759,020 -1,435,080 

 SPATIAL PLANNING PLANNING , ECON DEV, PROPERTY 

 771,630 Spatial Planning 794,480 5,025 1,360 119,910 -33,800 920,775 886,975 

 771,630 SPATIAL PLANNING 794,480 5,025 1,360 119,910 -33,800 920,775 886,975 

 427,925 PLANNING , ECON DEV, PROPERTY 4,029,190 911,030 30,610 1,188,305 10,350 -5,848,640 6,169,485 320,845 

 03 January 2017 Page 9 of 10 

P
age 45



 Original Direct Transport Supplies Net 
 Budget Employee Premises and Plant and Contract Capital Gross Expenditure 
 2016-2017 Service Expenses Expenses Expenses Services Payments Costs Income Expenditure 2017-2018 

 12,655,657 Report Totals 18,585,094 2,876,983 1,710,440 9,617,067 32,142,240 1,061,000 -53,950,544 65,992,824 12,042,280 

      -109,620  Less capitalised salaries         -179,890 

 

    12,546,037  Total         11,862,390 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3
rd
 January 2017         Page 10 of 10   

P
age 46



Appendix B 

Budget 2017/18 Main Movements

Department/Description 2017/18 Total

Efficiency 

Measures/Service 

Adjustments

Income 

Generation

Externally 

Imposed Loss of Income 

Service 

Improvements/

Adjustments

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

CORPORATE

Movement in capitalised salaries (70) (70)

Salaries - pay rise 156 156

Increments - regrading etc 147 147

Net reduction in posts (523) (523)

Provision for Apprenticeships 143 143

Provision for redundancies 250 250

Property repairs , maintenance and utilities (215) (215)

Business rates - revaluation 102 102

COMMUNICATIONS

HDC News 3rd Edition 19 19

Communications Dept  Software/Systems 36 36

LEGAL & DEMOCRATIC

Software 17 17

Legal costs recovered (50) (50)

Agency Costs 60 60

Reduction in Counsel fees (25) (25)

FINANCE

Reduction in bad debt provision (20) (20)

Increase in capital expenditure financing charge (MRP) 210 210

Interest on investments (268) (268)

Insurance 20 20

Reduction in borrowing costs (30) (30)

HDC ICT

Removal of income for services supplied to other Local Authorities 70 70

Project expenditure 60 60

CENSUS ICT

Reduction in project expenditure (107) (107)

Net increase (after partnership contributions)                          27 27

REVENUES AND BENEFITS

Additional provision for LA error 40 40

Partnership contribution 27 27

COMMUNITY & CULTURE

Building bridges project 70 70

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

Voluntary grants 13 13

COMMUNITY SAFETY

GrowthSavings

P
age 47



Appendix B 

Budget 2017/18 Main Movements

Department/Description 2017/18 Total

Efficiency 

Measures/Service 

Adjustments

Income 

Generation

Externally 

Imposed Loss of Income 

Service 

Improvements/

Adjustments

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

GrowthSavings

New community warden Pulborough - funding offsets salary increase and costs (48) (54) 6

Loss of contribution 15 15

CAPITOL

Growth in income (46) (46)

Increase in casual staff costs 30 30

LEISURE SERVICES

Statutory compensation - BBHLC 38 38

Reduction in loss of income  budgets (40) (40)

Reduction in Leisure Centre legacy repairs (100) (100)

PARKS & COUNTRYSIDE

Southwater Country Park - grounds maintenance 30 30

Parks restructure - covered by salary savings (£97k)  includes some vehicle savings 38 (47) (16) 101

Cemeteries income (44) (44)

STREET SCENE & FLEET

Vehicle Repair and maintenance - aging fleet 65 65

Agency staff - some offsetting salary savings 23 23

Vehicle hire - new litter picking guidelines 89 89

WASTE & RECYLING

Waste - other household collections contract payments 30 30

Waste - Site rental for Pods (25) (25)

Green waste income volume and price (118) (118)

Recycling support (46) (46)

Income from bin provision (25) (25)

Trade waste - income including new bulky bag scheme (147) (147)

Trade waste - reduction in disposal costs (50) (50)

PARKING SERVICES

Rural car park strategy 73 73

Rural car park income (315) (315)

Increase in other car park income (242) (242)

Staff car parking income (25) (25)

Increase in card processing costs 33 33

On street parking arrangements - additional income (27) (27)

HOUSING

Bed and breakfast increase in lodging costs 20 20

Income from temporary accommodation (130) (130)

Increase in casual staffing costs - offsets salary savings 37 37

P
age 48



Appendix B 

Budget 2017/18 Main Movements

Department/Description 2017/18 Total

Efficiency 

Measures/Service 

Adjustments

Income 

Generation

Externally 

Imposed Loss of Income 

Service 

Improvements/

Adjustments

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

GrowthSavings

DEVELOPMENT

Counsel Fees 60 60

Use of consultants 120 120

Appeal costs and legal fees 20 20

Reduction in income including SDNP 19 15 4

SPATIAL PLANNING

Neighbourhood plans - removal of parish council contribution 40 40

Local District Plan - reduction (20) (20)

Strategic Planning - sales of specialist skills (20) (20)

PROPERTIES & FACILITIES

Rental Income - property investment fund (105) (105)

Other rental income (64) (64)

Street naming (40) (40)

Service charges 27 27

Corporate Storage costs (27) (27)

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Pop-up-Shop rates (25) (25)

OTHER

Net Other items 79 79

TOTAL (683) (1,414) (1,611) 226 112 2,004

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C 

 

 The budget includes the following grants to voluntary groups and community 
partnerships. 

 
Grants to voluntary groups 

 
£ 

Citizen Advice Bureau - Horsham 94,000 

Age UK 50,000 

Voluntary Sector Infrastructure support 20,408 

Horsham District Community Transport 20,000 

Y Centre 20,000 

New strategic Grants budget 10,130 

Impact Initiatives – Steyning and 
Henfield 

10,000 

Community and individual grants 7,750 

Home-Start, Crawley, Horsham and 
Mid-Sussex 

7,000 

West Sussex Mediation Service 3,100 

Purple Bus, West Sussex Rural Mobile 
Youth Trust 

3,000 

Relate North 2,600 

Billingshurst Community Transport 1,500 

Total Grants 
249,488 

 
 

Grants to community partnerships 

The budget contains £6,000 of grants to community partnerships.  

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

Special Charge element - summary

2017/18

£

ALLOTMENTS  2,474 

CHILDRENS PLAYGROUNDS 25,114 

DRILL HALL  39,444 

BANDSTANDS  17,589 

FOOTWAYS & AMENITY LIGHTING 1,649 

FLORAL DISPLAYS  9,134 

HORSHAM PARK  57,649 

GRANTS TO NEIGHBOURHOOD COUNCILS  17,434 

YOUTH WORKER GRANT  30,000 

RECREATION GROUNDS  56,360 

CHRISTMAS LIGHTS 23,472

TOTAL 280,319

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Capital  Programme Appendix E i

Objective Description

 Expected 

Full Year 

2016/17 

 Proposed 

2017/18 

 Proposed 

2018/19 

 Proposed 

2019/20 

 Proposed 

2020/21 

Disaster Recovery            18,672                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Local Area Network - HDC              4,850                     -                       -                       -                       -   

HDC-Windows7+Ms Office2010Rollout            19,871                     -                       -                       -                       -   

ICT Projects          200,000          200,000          200,000          200,000          200,000 

Census - Server Replacement (4 Way)            14,532                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Census - Redhat Linux (3 Way)            69,020                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Census - Replace Storage Area Network            50,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Census - Access Management Control            10,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Mobile Working Application            72,500                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Frenches Way Play Area, Billingshurst            14,669                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Riverside Walk Project-Hormare            25,870                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Car Park Southwater (Country Park)            20,914                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Parbrook Landslip Prevention            92,030                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Capitol Arts Centre - Sound System                  961                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Warnham Millpond Engineering Works            39,375                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Horsham Park Pond Improvements            30,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Bennets Field Improvements          105,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Warnham Nature Reserve Improvements            50,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Southwater Country Park - Toilets            80,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Capitol Theatre - Lighting Desk            20,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Capitol Theatre - Projector            36,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   
Southwater Country Pk- Ext. & refurb. *                     -                       -            300,000                     -                       -   

Southwater Country Pk- Parking Initiatives *                     -            189,000 

Horsham Park Outdoor Gym *                     -              42,500                     -                       -                       -   

Redkiln Play Area *                     -              49,139                     -                       -                       -   

Roffey Play Area *                     -            100,000                     -                       -                       -   

St Mary's Garden of Remembrance *                     -              75,000                     -                       -                       -   

Capitol Theatre - Fly System *                     -              39,000                     -                       -                       -   

Riverside Walk - Hills Farm Lane *                     -              20,890                     -                       -                       -   

Pulborough Town Centre Imps S106            32,826                     -                       -                       -                       -   

96 Act-Disabled Facility Grant          713,000          713,000          713,000          713,000          713,000 

96 Act-Home Repair Assist. Grant          125,000          125,000          125,000          125,000          125,000 

Signage - Town & Rural Car Parks            20,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Rural Car Park Infrastructure            72,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

ANPR Extended - Hurst Rd & Denne Rd          125,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Pavilions Hurst Road Car Park *                     -            200,000                     -                       -                       -   

Swimming Provision-Pavillions            16,336                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Swimming Provision-Billingshurst            55,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Broadbridge Heath Leisure Centre-New       2,046,892       9,129,000       1,000,000       2,500,000                     -   

Multi-Storey Car Park-Repairs          376,084                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Swan Walk Centre          300,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Piries Place Car Park *                     -            400,254                     -                       -                       -   

Piries Place Car Park Lift          162,813                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Forum Car Park Lift          190,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Hillside Park, Small Dole, Safety Works              4,197                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Granary Refurbishment            35,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Drill Hall Heating System            65,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Commercial Estates - General            28,000          100,000          100,000          100,000          100,000 

Forum Paving              7,652                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Replace Boilers              3,143                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Page 55



Capital  Programme Appendix E i

Objective Description

 Expected 

Full Year 

2016/17 

 Proposed 

2017/18 

 Proposed 

2018/19 

 Proposed 

2019/20 

 Proposed 

2020/21 

Energy Efficiency Improvements            25,000            50,000                     -                       -                       -   

Southwater Health Centre Project            20,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Hop Oast Depot Realignment       2,796,044       1,554,400                     -                       -                       -   

Temp Accommodation Apartments       1,851,105          216,880                     -                       -                       -   

Myrtle Lane Car Park (Billingshurst)            29,997                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Disabled Access To Public  Bldgs            20,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Corporate Provision - Asset Enhancement                     -              50,000          500,000          500,000          500,000 

Commercial Property Investment Fund       3,248,107       3,000,000       3,000,000       3,000,000       3,000,000 

Ambulance Station       1,035,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Old Barn Pump Alley *                     -            200,000                     -                       -                       -   

Chesworth Farm - new storage facility *                     -              75,000                     -                       -                       -   

Denne Road Lodge *                     -              30,000                     -                       -                       -   

Rowan Drive Garages, Billingshurst *                     -         1,320,000          880,000                     -                       -   

Peary Close Horsham *                     -            780,000          520,000                     -                       -   

Land at Oakhurst Business Park phase 4 *                     -              75,000                     -                       -                       -   

Wickhurst Pumping Station                     -            200,000                     -                       -                       -   

Swan Walk Centre - Rebuild CCTV Room            50,000                     -                       -                       -                       -   

Bishopric Refurbishment / Enhancement                     -            159,880                     -                       -                       -   

East Street Pedestrianisation              1,500                     -                       -                       -                       -   

West Street Improvements            69,153            89,168                     -                       -                       -   

Housing Enabling Grants          504,000       1,000,000       1,000,000       1,000,000       1,000,000 

Vehicles -  Replacement programme          717,000       2,779,000            90,000          296,000          120,000 

TOTAL    15,719,113    22,962,111      8,428,000      8,434,000      5,758,000 

 * New budgets or addition to existing scheme

Page 56



New schemes in the 2017/18 capital programme:               Appendix Eii

Rowan Drive garages Billingshurst £1,320,000   A £2.2m scheme to build up to 10 
flats of social or temporary accommodation to provide housing, which would also 
produce an income stream. The scheme has been profiled across two financial 
years. Funding by S106 identified.

Peary Close Horsham £780,000   A £1.3m scheme to build up to 6 flats of social or 
temporary accommodation to provide housing, which would also produce an income 
stream. The scheme has been profiled across two financial years. Funding by S106 
identified.

Refurbishment of Piries Place car park £260,000   To improve the standard of the car 
park alongside the redevelopment of the Piries Place scheme.

Pavilions car park at Hurst Road £200,000   Redesign of car park layout resulting in 
additional spaces to help relieve congestion and also aid the future implementation of 
automatic number plate recognition. The additional car parking will generate income 
to payback the investment. 

Old Barn pump alley £200,000   Conversion of storage facility into two flats and 
refurbishment which will generate rental income or capital receipt on disposal. 

Southwater Country Park parking initiatives £189,000   Additional car parking spaces 
and parking meters to help relieve congestion. The additional car parking will 
generate income to payback the investment. 

Roffey recreational ground play area improvement: £100,000   The current play area 
is over 25 years old and in need of significant replacement / refurbishment. Funding 
from S106 identified. 

Chesworth Farm - new storage facility £75,000   Additional storage facility (a pre-
fabricated building on a concrete base) to release the decant from the Old Barn 
Pump Alley. 

Land at Oakhurst Business Park phase four £75,000   Preparation of derelict land 
which could be used for industrial expansion. Clearance of land required to be able to 
market for rental or disposal. 

St Mary's garden of remembrance £75,000   Enhance the quality of the garden by 
making it safer and more attractive to a wider range of visitors and to discourage anti-
social behaviour and vandalism. Funding from S106 identified.

Renew and extend Redkiln Way play area £49,000   The current play area is over 20 
years old and in need of significant replacement / refurbishment. Funding from S106 
identified.

Horsham Park outdoor gym facilities £42,500    To provide outdoor gym equipment to 
encourage people to use our green spaces to benefit their health and wellbeing. 
Funding from S106 identified.

Stage engineering at the Capitol £39,000   Remedial work to the over stage bars at 
the Capitol to address worn components and ensure it meets health and safety 
requirements. 

Denne Road cemetery lodge £30,000   Refurbishment of the cemetery lodge to 
create a new housing unit for temporary accommodation. 

Riverside Walks Hills Farm Road section £21,000   Constructing an all-weather, 
durable surface on the Hills Farm section of the Riverside Walk so it can be used by 
recreational walkers, wheelchair and pushchair users.  Funding from S106 identified.

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix F

ANNUAL MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) STATEMENT 2017/18

When the Council does not finance capital expenditure with resources such as capital 
receipts, grants, contributions and reserves it effectively finances the spend by debt 
(although this can be internally sourced debt), and it must put aside resources to 
repay that debt. The amount charged is known as the Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP). 

The amount of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is set by the Council but legislation 
requires the Council to have regard to guidance issued by the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (CLG). The aim of the guidance is to ensure that 
debt is repaid over a period that broadly matches the period over which the 
unfinanced capital expenditure provides benefits.

The CLG’s guidance requires the Council to approve an annual MRP statement and 
recommends a number of options for calculating a prudent amount of MRP. The 
following statement incorporates options recommended in the Guidance as well as 
locally determined prudent methods.  

The Council is recommended to approve the following MRP Statement:

 For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or which in the future will 
be Supported (Note) Capital Expenditure, the MRP policy will follow the former 
DCLG Regulations. This means the MRP will be based on 4% of the Capital 
Financing Requirement in respect of that expenditure. 

 From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported capital expenditure, the MRP will be 
calculated by dividing the capital expenditure by the expected useful life of the 
relevant assets, starting in the year after the asset becomes operational. MRP 
on purchases of freehold land will be charged over 50 years. MRP on 
expenditure not related to fixed assets but which has been capitalised by 
regulation or direction will be charged over 20 years

 For assets subject to finance leases, the MRP requirement would be regarded 
as met by a charge equal to the element of the rent/charge that goes to write 
down the balance sheet liability.

 Where loans are made to other bodies for their capital expenditure, no MRP will 
be charged.  However, the capital receipts generated by the annual repayments 
on those loans will be applied to reduce the capital financing requirement.

 Capital spend in 2017/18 will not be subject to a MRP until 2018/19.

Note Supported Capital Expenditure is capital spend that central government 
supports with a contribution through grant. Horsham District Council does not 
have any Supported Capital Expenditure at present.

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix G

Prudential Indicators

Capital Expenditure Plans
The Council is asked to approve the capital expenditure projections below. The estimate of 
capital expenditure is based on the capital programme in this report and estimates of 
capital spend that may become necessary during the period of the medium term financial 
strategy.

2016/17
Revised

£000

2017/18
Revised

£000

2018/19
Revised

£000

2019/20
Estimate

£000
Projected Capital Expenditure  10,201 26,310 9,803  8,990 
Financed by:
Capital receipts and third party 
contributions

 5,033 8,603 7,554  4,956 

Capital grants  513  513  713  713 
Revenue reserves*  1,119 2,953 536  821 
Total Financing  6,665  12,069  8,803 6,490
Net financing need 3,536  14,241 1,000   2,500   

* Includes use of New Homes Bonus

The Council’s borrowing need, the Capital Financing Requirement
The Council is asked to approve the projections below. 

Capital Financing 
Requirement

2016/17
Revised

£000

2017/18
Revised

£000

2018/19
Revised

£000

2019/20
Estimate

£000

Opening balance  13,256  15,957 29,276  29,119
Net financing need  3,536  14,241  1,000  2,500
Less MRP (835) (922) (1,157) (1,064)
Closing balance 15,957 29,276 29,119 30,555
Net inc/(decrease)  2,701  13,319 ( 157) 1,436

The CFR is forecast to rise significantly next year as capital expenditure financed by debt 
outweighs resources put aside for debt repayment. In the subsequent two years it 
stabilises. The current longer term projection shows 2019/20 as the peak level.    

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement
In order to ensure that over the medium term debt will only be for a capital purpose, the 
Council should ensure that debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of 
capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial years. This is a key 
indicator of prudence. Total debt is expected to remain below the CFR during the forecast 
period as indicated below.  

2016/17
Revised

£000

2017/18
Revised

£000

2018/19
Revised

£000

2019/20
Estimate

£000
Gross Borrowing 4,000 4,000 4,000 0
Capital Fin. Req. 15,957 29,276 29,119 30,555

Page 61



Limits to debt
There are two indicators that seek to put a limit on debt. The first limiting indicator is the 
‘operational boundary’ which represents the expected maximum debt position during each 
year but is not an absolute limit. The other debt prudential indicator is the ‘authorised limit’ 
for external debt which represents the limit beyond which external borrowing is prohibited, 
and needs to be set and revised by Council.  It reflects the level of borrowing which, while 
not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable.  This is the 
statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. The table 
below shows the estimates that the Council are asked to approve.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Operational boundary - borrowing £4m £4m £0m
Operational boundary – other long term liabilities £0m £0m £0m
Operational boundary - Total £4m £4m £0m
Authorised limit – borrowing £14m £14m £14m
Authorised limit – other long-term liabilities £1m £1m £1m
Authorised limit – Total £15m £15m £15m

The projection assumes the single debt is repaid in 2019 and no new borrowing is taken 
out. 

Affordability Prudential Indicators:
Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream – This indicator 
identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing costs net of investment income) against 
the net revenue stream. It therefore measures how much of the Council’s overall income is 
used to finance capital. The increase is due to the capital expenditure which is not 
financed from capital and revenue resources.  

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Ratio of financing costs to net 
revenue stream

4% 2% 4% 3%

Estimates of the incremental impact of capital investment decisions on the Council 
Tax – This indicator identifies the revenue costs associated with the proposed changes to 
the capital programme recommended in the budget report. The costs are shown per Band 
D property and have been included in all the budget projections brought before the 
Council.  The small cost reflects that the growth in capital spend is overwhelmingly 
externally funded or provides a financial return. 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Impact on Council tax £0.01 £0.02 £0.02

Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code: The Authority adopted the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the 
Public Services: Code of Practice 2011 Edition in February 2012. It fully complies with the 
Codes recommendations.

Page 62



New Homes Bonus (NHB) – post Settlement December 2016 Appendix H

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
2011/12 379 379 379 379 379 379
2012/13 390 390 390 390 390
2013/14 397 397 397 397 397
2014/15 776 776 776 776
2015/16 994 994 994 994
2016/17 1,462 1,462 1,462 1,462
2017/18 1,186 1,186 1,186 1,186
2018/19 1,186 1,186 1,186
2019/20 1,186 1,186
2020/21 1,186

379 769 1,166 1,942 2,936 4,398 4,815 4,828 5,020 4,744

Used to fund revenue - - 1,166 1,166 1,166 1,166 700 400 200 -
Used for BBH 2,000 2,000
Added to Reserves 379 769 - 776 1,770 1,232 2,115 4,428 4,820 4,744
Total Reserve figure 379 1,148 1,148 1,924 3,694 4,926 7,041 11,469 16,289 21,033

Notes: 
The 2016 Autumn Statement introduced changes to the mechanism of NHB. This includes 5 years of payments in 2017/18 and 4 years in 2018/19.  A 0.4% baseline was also 
introduced, which needs to be exceeded before any NHB payments are made. For 2017/18, measured against the total band D equivalents in the district, 0.4% equates to 
approximately 240 additional houses a year before we receive anything. The projected figures in red italics are subject to further consultation. The government has retained 
the option of making adjustments to the baseline in future years.  

An increase in the baseline of 0.1% is equivalent to approximately 60 band D dwellings, which at the standard payment of £1,530 per dwelling would reduce NHB by £92k. 

Actual amounts for the future years 2018/19 to 2019/20 will only be confirmed once the results of the further consultation on the future allocation of NHB are announced. 
At this point, figures for 2020/21 are based only on the assumption that payments continue into the 2020s which has not yet been confirmed. 

Reliance on NHB to support revenue is being tapered down over the period from 2017/18 to 2019/20.  This tapering period will enable us to take measures to increase 
income and phase in additional spending reductions to balance the budget as new homes bonus cannot be considered a permanent source of income. 

The table also assumes that £2m of the NHB reserve is used to fund the capital project of Broadbridge Heath (BBH) leisure centre in 2016/17 and also in 2017/18 as 
previously approved by Cabinet. 

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix I

1. Robustness of Estimates and Adequacy of Reserves
1.1 Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires Chief Financial 

Officers to report to their authorities about the robustness of estimates and the 
adequacy of reserves when determining their precepts, and authorities are 
required to take the Chief Financial Officer’s report into account when setting 
the Council Tax.  

1.2 The desired minimum level of general reserves was established in the 
2012/13 budget report at £6m.  Sufficient general reserves are required to 
ensure that the Council is able to meet its expenses if it finds it needs to fund 
unplanned costs during the year or its projected income fall short of the 
budgeted amount.  These changes could result from a number of sources 
such as increased homelessness or an increase in voids in the commercial 
property estate, or reduced business rate income.

1.3 General reserves at 31st March 2016 were £9.1m. Of this, £0.5m of the 
2015/16 revenue budget surplus has subsequently been transferred into an 
earmarked transformation reserve to fund one-off up-front costs of business 
transformation.

1.4 The following graph shows the predicted level of general reserves for future 
years after two scenarios. Firstly, the level of general reserves available if the 
Council had not taken action to implement transformation and funded the 
shortfall from reserves. This results in all general fund reserves being spent in 
2020. 

1.5 If the budget gaps are filled through the transformation programme to 2019/20 
however and the assumptions in the MTFS, on increases in Council Tax rates 
are applied for example, the Council would have sufficient revenue reserves 
for the period covered by the Medium Term Financial Strategy. This second 
scenario assumes the current transformation programme ends in 2019/20 and 
the 2020/21 deficit is funded from GF reserves. This results in the Council 
retaining £5.8m of general reserves by the end of 2020/21. 

Page 65



1.6 By holding general reserves, if the Council finds itself in a difficult position and 
the projected deficits in future years increase as a result of unforeseen 
government policy or events, the Council should still be able to maintain a 
minimum level of reserves while it identifies increased savings or additional 
income. 

Earmarked reserves
1.7 The Council also holds earmarked reserves which are funds received for a 

specific purpose.  For example, grant funding that can only be expended on 
particular purposes.  Details of the earmarked reserves held by the Council at 
31st March 2016 are shown in table a) below.
Table a: Earmarked reserves

Earmarked Reserves at 31 March 2016 £’000
Neighbourhood Planning Grant 318
S106 reserves 1,393
NNDR reserve 1,435
Council Tax localisation 278
Health and Wellbeing 198
Weekly Waste Collection 254
Community reserves 250
Other 515
Total 4,641

New Homes Bonus (NHB) 
1.8 The NHB reserve is expected to total £4.9m at 31 March 2017 and an 

estimate of the future levels of NHB reserves are set out separately in more 
detail at Appendix H. This assumes that payments of NHB remain at four 
years from 2018/19 and that there are no changes to the 0.4% baseline below 
which there is no payment. It is likely though that the current projected NHB 
levels will change as a result of the outcomes of the further consultation in 
2017.

1.9 Now that the government has clarified the future of NHB in the medium term, 
and under the current assumptions the forecast is that the new homes bonus 
reserve will grow, so consideration should now be given to developing a policy 
for the best use of it to help the Council and district in the longer term. It is 
suggested that the key aims of such a policy should be to strengthen the 
Council’s ability to generate income from appropriate investments in order to 
receive income to support future service delivery and secure the delivery of 
infrastructure to serve the needs of the district's residents. It is proposed that 
the policy should be developed early in 2017/18. 

Page 66



Report to Cabinet

25 January 2017
By the Cabinet Member for Planning and Development
NON KEY DECISION

Not Exempt 

Statement of Community Involvement

Executive Summary

The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) is a statutory document which sets out 
the ways in which the council will engage with residents, communities, businesses, local 
organisations and other groups to ensure as many people as possible are able to have a 
say in planning decisions that affect them.

The document will provide guidance on how the planning system works and sets out how 
the council will inform, consult and involve people in planning decisions within Horsham 
District, excluding the area within the South Downs National Park.

A draft Statement of Community Involvement was agreed for consultation at the Cabinet 
Meeting of 22 September 2016.  Consultation was held between 26 September and 7 
November 2016, and in response to this consultation a small number of clarifications have 
been made to the document.  

If adopted, this document will replace the SCI that was published in 2013 which had 
become out of date as a result of legislative changes to the planning system.  

Recommendations

Cabinet is asked to approve the following recommendations:

i) To adopt the Statement of Community Involvement, attached at Appendix 1.

ii) That the Cabinet Member for Planning and Development has delegated authority to 
agree minor editorial changes prior to publication.

Reasons for Recommendations

i) To enable an up to date and accurate SCI to set out guidance on how the planning 
system works and sets out how the council will inform, consult and involve people in 
planning decisions within Horsham District

ii) To undertake minor editorial or typographical amendments.

Background Papers: Statement of Community Involvement (2013)

Wards affected: All

Page 67

Agenda Item 9



Contact: Dr Chris Lyons, Director of Planning, Economic Development & Property, 
Barbara Childs, Head of Strategic Planning & Sustainability

Page 68



Background Information

1 Introduction and Background

1.1 It is a requirement of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 for a local 
authority to produce a Statement of Community Involvement (SCI).  The SCI is 
public statement which lets communities and organisations know when and how 
they can be involved in both the preparation of planning policy documents and 
decisions on planning applications. 

1.2 The current SCI was reviewed in November 2013 and incorporated minor editorial 
changes which were made under Delegated approval.  In light of changes to the 
planning system, (for example updated planning legislation now refers to Local 
Plans rather than Local Development Frameworks) and recent feedback from 
consultation bodies, a revision and update of the authority’s SCI is needed. 

1.3 The updated SCI sets out the standards to be met by the authority in terms of 
community involvement, building upon the minimum requirements set out in 
Planning Regulations.  It has been reviewed to reflect ‘plain English’ guidance and 
the Council’s own communication guidelines as well as recent legislative changes. 
Following consultation on the draft SCI, which was held between 23 September and 
7 November 2016, a small number of clarifications have been made to the 
document.  

2 Relevant Council policy

2.1 The Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) provides the policy framework 
for future strategic planning in the district.  It informs the public of the location of 
future strategic development and provides a timeframe in which development will 
take place.

2.2 The Constitution sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and 
the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent 
and accountable to local people.

2.3 In addition to the requirements of Planning Regulations the SCI must take into 
account those of the Constitution. The document should address the consultation 
requirements for planning applications, as well as any future Development Plan 
Documents and Supplementary Planning Documents as set out in the Local 
Development Scheme.

3 Details

3.1 Following the adoption of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) in 
November 2015 and recent feedback from consultation bodies, the SCI has been 
redrafted.

3.2 A revised SCI has been developed through discussions with relevant sections of the 
Council, including the Strategic Planning & Sustainability Team and Development 

Page 69



Management, as well as taking into account the feedback from consultation on the 
draft document. It is attached at Appendix 1 of this report.

3.3 It is a requirement under the Town and Country Planning Regulations 2008 to notify 
‘specific bodies’ of the intention to prepare a Statement of Community Involvement 
and invite representations about what the content of the statement may be.

3.4 At the cabinet on 22 September 2016, the draft SCI was agreed for consultation 
which took place between 23 September and 7 November 2016. In addition to 
seeking views from the specific consultation bodies, views from the wider 
community were also invited through advertisement in the local press and on the 
Council’s website. Copies of the draft SCI were also sent to libraries across the 
District.  

3.5 In total, fifteen responses were received in relation to the SCI.  A summary of these 
comments together with the Council’s response is set out in Appendix 2.  Overall, 
there was support for the SCI, and many comments were observations rather than 
requiring specific changes to the document.  A number of respondents did however 
make suggestions where clarifications could be made to improve the clarity of the 
document.  The document has therefore been amended to reflect these points. One 
key area where this has been undertaken is in relation to neighbourhood planning 
section, to which a number of comments related.  It was not however possible to 
make all requested changes to the document. The reasoning for this is set out in 
more detail in Appendix 2, but in one case, the proposed amendment was in 
relation to a neighbourhood planning consultation, which is run by Parish Councils 
and not HDC.  A further proposed change, to extend the consultation periods for 
planning applications could not be accommodated as it would prevent the Council 
from being able to determine planning applications within the required timescales. 

4 Next Steps

4.1 If adopted, the SCI will be published on the Council’s website and will be made 
available in libraries for viewing.  The Council will inform all statutory bodies and 
other respondents to the consultation of the adoption of the SCI, and will provide a 
copy of Appendix 2, enabling the organisations who were contacted to see how 
their views have been taken into account.  

5 Views of the Policy Development Advisory Group and Outcome of 
Consultations

5.1 The Planning & Development Policy Development Advisory Group considered the 
draft SCI on 8 September 2016 and endorsed its contents subject to the wording on 
the Council’s constitution being clarified. This updated wording has now been 
inserted.  Clarifications have now been made to the document in response to public 
consultation as set out above and these have also been discussed with the 
Planning & Development Policy Development Advisory Group on 12 January 2017. 
In light of these discussions further wording has been inserted to refer to 
consultation methods and advertising, and reference to the Council’s constitution 
has been clarified. 

Page 70



5.2 The Monitoring Officer and the Director of Corporate Resources have been 
consulted during the preparation of the document and they support its contents.

6 Other Courses of Action Considered but Rejected

6.1 The Council could continue to rely on the existing SCI from 2013.  However, this 
document is out of date and therefore this course of action is not recommended.

7 Resource Consequences

7.1 There are no financial or staffing consequences.

8 Legal Consequences

8.1 There are no legal implications of this report.  

9 Risk Assessment

9.1 Updating the existing SCI will reduce the risk of challenge to the adoption of new 
planning policy and decisions made on planning applications.

10 Other Considerations

10.1 Without an up to-date SCI there is a risk that any future Development Plan 
Document being found ‘unsound’ by the Inspector during an examination in public.

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Statement of

Community

Involvement

JANUARY 2017

Page 73



2

Statement of Community Involvement Consultation Draft 2016

Contents

1.0  Introduction page 3

2.0  Planning Policy page 4

3.0  Consultation of Planning Documents page 5

4.0  Neighbourhood Plans page 7

5.0 Development Management page 9

Page 74



3

Introduction

The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) is a statutory document which sets out the ways in 
which the council will engage with residents, communities, businesses, local organisations and other 
groups to ensure as many people as possible are able to have a say in planning decisions that affect 
them.

This document provides guidance on how the planning system works and advises the manner in 
which we will inform, consult and involve people in planning decisions within Horsham District, 
excluding the area within the South Downs National Park.

There are two key functions to the planning system; Planning Policy and Development Management.

Planning Policy, led by the Strategic Planning Team, produce planning documents such as the Local 
Plan  and supplementary planning documents that are used to guide development.  The documents 
must comply with relevant Government legislation and guidance, and there are specific regulatory 
procedures which must be followed during their production.

Development Management, who are responsible for the processing and determination of planning 
applications, applications for works to trees, advertisements and listed buildings.  The Development 
Management team provide pre-application advice and investigate breaches of planning control.

Page 75



4

Planning Policy

Local Planning Documents

The Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) is the council’s adopted Local Plan and sets out 
the planning strategy for the years up to 2031 to deliver the social, economic and environmental 
needs for the district, outside of the South Downs National Park.

The Strategic Planning Team consider a range of different issues affecting the district such as the 
provision of new housing, and the delivery of employment, retail and open  space.  Planning policy 
documents seek to ensure that these allocations are delivered in the right place and at the right 
time.

There are two main types of planning documents; Development Plan Documents and Supplementary 
Planning Documents:

 Development Plan Documents (DPDs) are formal plans that set out policies for a particular 
geographical area.  They are subject to public consultation and a Sustainability Appraisal.  
They must be considered at an independent examination and obtain Council approval before 
they can be adopted.  The Horsham District Planning Framework is an adopted DPD.

 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) expand upon a particular theme contained in a 
Development Plan Document to provide additional detail and guidance. They may cover a 
range of topics or be for individual sites.  An SPD is subject to consultation and may require a 
Sustainability Appraisal.  Although SPDs are not subject to independent examination, they 
do need to obtain approval at Council before they adopted.

Production of Planning Documents

The Council is required to produce new planning documents or update existing documents in 
accordance with legal requirements.  The timetable for drafting, consultation and adoption of plans 
can be found in the Local Development Scheme (LDS). This sets out the production timetable for the 
planning documents that this council will be producing over the next three years.  A copy of this is 
available on our website:

https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planningpolicy/planning-policy/planning-timetable

There will be different preparation and consultation stages to undertake dependant on whether the 
Council are working to produce a Development Plan Document or a Supplementary Planning 
Document. The Council will look to involve people as early as possible and will invite feedback on 
draft documents.  The Council will also work to ensure that people are kept informed throughout the 
document production process. 

Page 76

https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planningpolicy/planning-policy/planning-timetable


5

Planning Document Preparation Process

The council will use a range of methods to inform, consult and involve people.  This will vary 
depending on the type of document that is being prepared, but may include for example, meetings 
and exhibitions as appropriate. The following table provides details of the planning document 
production and opportunities for consultation and participation.   The methods used by the Council 
are varied; this is to allow flexibility to ensure the right consultation processes are used for individual 
documents and that the relevant audiences are notified.

Early Engagement
The council will:

- Collect evidence to input and support production of document
- Notify key stakeholders including Councillors, Parish and Neighbourhood Councils, local 

groups and organisations 
- Consider all issues and any alternatives which may come forward
- Prepare content of draft document

Publication & Consultation
The council will ensure:

- 6 week (minimum) consultation period for DPDs (this is a statutory requirement).  This 
includes both the DPD and the associated sustainability appraisal

- 4 week (minimum) consultation period for SPDs (this is a statutory requirement) 
- All consultation documents will be made available for inspection on the council website and 

at relevant libraries 
- Appropriate advertising of the consultation
- Formal notification of the consultation to statutory consultees 

Examination & Adoption
The Council will:

- Submit DPDs and supporting documentation to Secretary of State for independent 
examination

- Summarise and make publically available all representations received during consultation.
- Statement of Compliance produced to demonstrate the SCI has been followed.
- Make publically available the report issued by a Planning Inspector issues for the DPD.
- DPDs/SPDs to be adopted by Council

Monitor
The Council will:

- Monitor the plan to show how the planning policies set out in Local Plan are being achieved.
- Review the plan where/when necessary

Page 77



6

Meeting Regulatory Requirements

There are statutory consultation requirements which the Council must adhere to, as detailed in The 
Town and County Planning (Local Planning)(England) Regulations 2012.  In order to meet these 
requirements the Council will:

 Publish all documents and supporting information on the Council’s website, including details 
of where and when copies of the documents can be viewed and how people can comment.  
The planning policy webpage is: https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planningpolicy/planning-
policy

 Make all consultation documents and supporting information available for the public to view 
at Council offices during the normal office hours throughout the consultation period, which 
is a minimum of six weeks for a DPD and a minimum of four weeks for an SPD.

Who will be consulted?

The Council is required to send details of planning document consultations to ‘specific consultation 
bodies’ as specified in The Town and County Planning (Local Planning)(England) Regulations 2012.  
The following organisations must be consulted:

 Natural England
 Environment Agency
 Historic England
 Highways Agency
 Within or adjoining County Councils (West Sussex and Surrey)
 Adjoining local authorities ( Arun, Adur & Worthing, Brighton & Hove, Chichester, Crawley, 

Mid Sussex, Mole Valley, South Downs National Park and Waverley)
 Parish Councils/Neighbourhood Councils (including those which adjoin the District)
 NHS Sussex
 Sussex Police
 Homes and Community Agency
 Relevant electricity and gas companies
 Relevant sewerage and water undertakers
 Relevant electronic communication companies
 Network Rail
 Coal Authority
 Marine Management Organisation

In addition to the statutory consultees and members of the general public there are many other 
groups and organisations that will have an interest in planning policy documents.  These consultees 
and stakeholders will have a variety of different interests and priorities and could contribute 
expertise and knowledge across a range of subject areas.  The following consultees/stakeholders are 
examples of groups and who may be contacted and involved where appropriate:

Page 78

https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planningpolicy/planning-policy
https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planningpolicy/planning-policy


7

 Local residents’ associations
 Local environmental organisations
 High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Unit (advises on the management of the 

AONB)
 Agents and developers
 Local business groups and forums
 Youth groups
 Older persons groups / organisations
 Local community partnerships
 Faith groups
 Disability groups
 Sport and open space organisations
 Transport organisations

If you would like to be automatically notified of new consultations please email your contact details 
to strategic.planning@horsham.gov.uk 

Adoption of Planning Documents

The final stage in the production of a planning document is the formal process of Adoption.  A 
Development Plan Document must be presented to Council to consider if it should be adopted as 
Council Policy.  Supplementary Planning Documents are presented to Cabinet for consideration to 
adopt.

Full Council is made up of all 44 Councillors for the District, representing 22 Wards.  It is responsible 
for approving or adopting the Council budget and other key documents affecting the whole district, 
such as Development Plan Documents and Plans and Strategies (such as the HDPF).  Members of the 
public are able to attend meetings of the Council and may ask questions at the start of the meeting, 
as outlined in Part 4I of the Constitution.

Cabinet consists of seven Councillors of the majority political party and plus the Leader of the 
Council.  Each Cabinet Member has responsibility for a particular area of the Council’s activity.  For 
Planning, the relevant Councillor is the Cabinet Member for Planning and Development.   There is 
one Policy Development Advisory Group (PDAG) per Cabinet Member. Where relevant, the Cabinet 
Member for Planning and Development will be briefed on a planning document at their Planning and 
Development PDAG. PDAGs are not open to members of the public; however, a copy of the agenda 
and minutes of each meeting is available to view on the council website.

In accordance with The Town and County Planning (Local Planning)(England) Regulations 2012; as 
soon as is reasonably practicable after adoption, the Council will send a copy of the adoption 
statement to any person who has asked to be notified of the adoption.

Page 79

mailto:strategic.planning@horsham.gov.uk


8

Neighbourhood Planning

Neighbourhood Plans are community produced statutory planning documents that enable people to 
take a more direct role in shaping the places where they live.

A neighbourhood plan can build upon the strategic policies set out in the Council’s local planning 
documents and allows people to influence the location, appearance and type of development that 
comes forward in their local parish or neighbourhood. The preparation of Neighbourhood Plans 
must undertake a minimum of two stages of consultation undertaken first by the local community 
and then by the Council.  The plan then undergoes independent examination.  If recommended by 
the Examiner, the next stage of plan preparation is to submit the plan to a referendum where the 
local community can vote on whether the plan should be used to determine planning applications in 
the Neighbourhood Plan area. If more than 50% of vote is in favour of the neighbourhood 
development plan, then the plan will then be ‘Made’ by Horsham District Council (a similar process 
to the formal adoption of a DPD.) Once ‘Made’ the Neighbourhood Plan will be used together with 
the Council’s planning policies to determine planning applications for the area it covers. 

In Horsham District, the vast majority of which is parished, it is the Parish Council who prepares a 
Neighbourhood Plan.  A Neighbourhood Plan can cover all or part of a parish and in some cases may 
involve a number of parishes if they choose to ‘cluster.’   In unparished areas, where there is a desire 
from the community to produce a neighbourhood plan, it is necessary to form a Neighbourhood 
Forum or Forums to cover the unparished area. Alternatively, a Parish Council can include 
unparished areas, subject to the approval of the Local Authority who designate the Neighbourhood 
Plan area. 

The Government is encouraging communities to get involved in plan production and consultation, 
either by responding to local plan consultations or by producing a Neighbourhood Plan.  It is 
recognised that this requires a significant commitment from local communities in terms of time and 
resources.  The Council will seek to provide support and advice on a range of issues, including 
consultation and the process of document production. This is set out in more detail in the Council’s 
offer of support which can be viewed on the neighbourhood planning section of the Council’s 
website.

If you are interested in getting involved with the production of a Neighbourhood Plan or would like 
to find out further information, please view our website: 
https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planning/neighbourhood-planning

Page 80

https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planning/neighbourhood-planning


9

Development Management

The Council has the responsibility for the determination of planning applications within the district.  
It is the Development Management team who is responsible for determining the planning 
applications we receive.  

The service also operates an agency arrangement with the South Downs National Park Authority; 
this means that the majority of applications within the part of the SDNP which falls within Horsham 
District are dealt with by Development Management at Horsham Council on behalf of the National 
Park Authority.

It is at this stage that decisions are made on proposals for the use and development of land and 
buildings.  Decisions on planning applications must be made in accordance with Development Plan 
Documents, which including ‘Made’ Neighbourhood Plans unless other material considerations 
indicate otherwise.

Pre-application Planning Advice

Development Management offer a comprehensive pre-application advice service.  The Council 
welcome and encourage discussions before the submission of an application.  The service provided is 
in the form of advice given face to face in our offices, over the telephone or through a written 
service.  The written service is chargeable; please view the Pre Application Standards of Service and 
Fees table for further information:  
https://www.horsham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/31473/Pre-Application-Service-
Standards-June-2016V2.pdf

Pre-application Consultation

Pre-application consultation is not undertaken by the Council.  It is carried out by a developer before 
a planning application is submitted to the local authority.

Development Management strongly recommend that developers undertake pre-application 
consultation with local residents and organisations, in addition to that undertaken with the Council, 
prior to submitting any planning applications for major developments and other developments 
which would invoke significant public interest.

Pre-application consultation can be helpful because discussions between a developer and local 
residents can help to identify potential problems or improvements that could be made to proposals 
at an early stage.  

Local residents can benefit from this by providing their input to help ensure the development is 
acceptable.  It can also assist developers by reducing the scope for objections at a later stage.  

Developers undertaking pre-application consultation are asked to address the following:

 Set clear objectives and agree the consultation approach with Development Management, 
including who will be consulted.

 Let people know what the scheme is proposing, and be clear about what they can influence 
when making comments.

Page 81

https://www.horsham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/31473/Pre-Application-Service-Standards-June-2016V2.pdf
https://www.horsham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/31473/Pre-Application-Service-Standards-June-2016V2.pdf


10

 Use different engagement approaches to maximise opportunities for people to influence the 
proposals.  Particular steps should be taken to involve any seldom-heard groups that could 
be affected by a proposal.

 Submit a statement alongside the final planning application outlining the community 
involvement work that has been undertaken.  This should include a summary of any 
responses received at consultation, and should explain how feedback has influenced the 
proposals.

Planning Application Publicity

When a planning application is registered there is a statutory period of 21 days during which anyone 
can comment on a proposal.  The council is only statutorily required to publicise certain types of 
development but will ensure that applications are appropriately published.  Our approach to 
notification of planning application is to:

 Produce a Weekly List of registered planning applications which is available to view through 
the online planning service ‘Public Access’ which can be accessed via the following link: 
https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planning/view-and-comment-on-planning-application

 Advertise the weekly list in a local newspaper
 Publish details of planning applications online through Public Access.  This can be used to 

view planning applications and supporting documentation.  Applications can be searched by 
address or by an individual application number.

 Consult all parish/neighbourhood councils, statutory consultees and other relevant 
organisations on appropriate applications within their parish/neighbourhood or 
administrative area.

 Undertake appropriate notification.  This will vary according to the type of application; 
methods of notification may include adjoining neighbour notifications and displaying site 
notices.

Commenting on a Planning Application

Should you wish to comment on a planning application, your comments must be submitted to the 
Council in writing within the 21 day consultation period.  Comments received after this time will be 
taken in to account wherever possible up until the point that the application is determined.  You will 
need to provide details of your name and address, which will appear with your comments on the 
Council website. 

Comments received in response to a planning application are a matter of public record and cannot 
be treated as confidential. The Council will not publish telephone numbers, private email addresses 
or signatures.  The Council reserve the right not to publish any comments or parts of comments that 
are not considered suitable for the public to view; these include comments that are offensive, 
personal or defamatory.

Comments can be made online via the following link:
 https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planning/view-and-comment-on-planning-application

By post: Development Management, Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, RH12 
1RL

Page 82

https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planning/view-and-comment-on-planning-application
https://www.horsham.gov.uk/planning/view-and-comment-on-planning-application


11

By email: planning@horsham.gov.uk

What Can I Comment On?

If you comment on a planning application it is important that your comments relate to planning 
matters, as it is only these matters that can be taken into account by the Council when making a 
decision.  Some of the issues considered to be planning matters are:

 External appearance and design
 Highway safety, traffic and parking issues
 Impact of street scene or character of the local area
 Issues of noise, privacy, disturbance and amenity
 Drainage
 Loss of light or overshadowing
 Loss of trees or impact on conservation areas

This list is for guidance only and is not exhaustive; there may be other relevant issues that you would 
like to comment on.

Some issues are not regarded as planning matters and are not usually taken into account when 
reaching a planning decision.  These include the following:

 Loss of private view
 Property value
 Possible future uses outside the scope of the application
 Private property matters such as boundary and ownership disputes, or private rights of way
 Personal matters relating to the identity of the applicant
 Moral issues or applicant’s motives
 Matters covered by other legislation such as building regulations, licensing or restrictive 

covenants

Making a decision

There are two main ways in which the Council will reach a decision on a planning application; 
through officers of the Council, known as a delegated decision or through a Development Control 
Committee made up of elected Council Members:

1. Delegated Decisions – once the application consultation period has closed, the planning 
case officer will take into account all material considerations, including any valid comments 
on the application, and will make a recommendation to either permit or refuse the 
application.  The reasoning behind the case officer’s recommendation will be set out in a 
short report that explains the approach taken.  A decision will then be made in accordance 
with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation by authorised officers on behalf of the Director of 
Planning, Economic Development & Property.

Page 83

mailto:planning@horsham.gov.uk


12

2. Development Committee – there are some cases where a decision cannot be made under 
the Council’s Scheme of Delegation and must be decided by Councillors at one of the 
Development Control Committees.  The main reasons for referral are:

 The case officer recommendation is contrary to the view of the relevant Parish or 
Neighbourhood Council and the Parish or Neighbourhood Council has requested the 
opportunity to address the Committee.

 A Councillor requests that the applications be determined by the Committee
 The applicant is a Council employee or Councillor.
 There are eight letters or more with a different view to the officer recommendation
 The decision would conflict with the Council’s planning policy (i.e. it would be a 

‘departure’ from the Development Plan).

Please note that this is a simplified list and subject to change and the most up to date decision 
making procedures are set out in the Council’s constitution will always take precedence.  For further 
information and the most up- to-date position please view the Constitution, a copy of which is on our 
website: https://www.horsham.gov.uk/councilanddemocracy/councillors/committees-and-council-
business/constitution

The Council allows public speaking at meetings of its Development Committees provided that the 
question has been delivered in writing to the Council no later than 12.00 noon on the last but one 
working day before the day of the meeting.  Please refer to the Constitution, a link to which is 
provided above, for full details on public speaking at meetings of the Council.

Notification of Decisions

Once a decision has been made on an application, either by the Development Committee or by 
delegation, the Council will notify the applicant/agent of the Council’s decision.

All decision notices are made available for inspection at the Council offices and are available to view 
on our website through the Public Access system.

Appeals

Where a planning application is refused, or a decision is not made within the required timescale, the 
applicant may choose to appeal;  It is the responsibility of an independent planning inspector, or in 
certain cases the Secretary of State, to make a final decision on the application. There may be a 
further opportunity at this stage for public involvement in the process, for more information on 
taking part in an inquiry please see  https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/taking-part-in-a-
planning-listed-building-or-enforcement-appeal

Page 84

https://www.horsham.gov.uk/councilanddemocracy/councillors/committees-and-council-business/constitution
https://www.horsham.gov.uk/councilanddemocracy/councillors/committees-and-council-business/constitution


13

Contact Us

Please find below a list of useful contact details:

Section Telephone 
Number

Email Address

Strategic Planning & 
Sustainability

01403 215398 strategic.planning@horsham.gov.uk

Neighbourhood 
Planning

01403 215129 neighbourhood.planning@horsham.gov.uk

Development 
Management

01403 215187 planning@horsham.gov.uk

Postal Address: Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex, RH12 1RL

www.horsham.gov.uk

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 SCI 2016 Consultation Responses

1

Consultee Representation Outcome

Natural 
England

Supportive of the principle of meaningful and early engagement of the 
general community, community organisations and statutory bodies in local 
planning matters, both in terms of shaping policy and participating in the 
process of determining planning applications.

Comments noted. No change required

Older Peoples 
Forum

Under 'Who will be consulted' examples of groups who may be contacted 
(Page 7), add 'Horsham District Older Peoples Forum'.

Reference to older people's groups has been included in the 
document - the terminology is more general than suggested, 
to enable other older persons groups to be consulted if 
appropriate.  

Older Peoples 
Forum

For future draft proposals in general i.e. policy/strategy documents, the 
HDPF should be included as a matter of course for being considered at the 
least for inclusion for consultation on older people issues.

This will take place as is now signposted in the SCI. No 
further change required. 

Page 5 - Planning Document Preparation Process - Publication & 
Consultation - For the sake of clarity and to reflect the requirements of 
Reg 19 (b) of Town & Country Planning (Local 
Planning)(England)Regulations 2012, it is considered that the intention to 
notify and send the documents to those 'specific consultation bodies' listed 
on Page 6 should be included. We therefore suggest the following 
amendment to the 3rd point as follows 'All consultation documents will be 
made available for inspection on the council website and at relevant 
libraries, and specific consultation bodies will be notified in writing'

Table amended to state "- Formal notification of the 
consultation to statutory consultees" . It should be noted that 
writing can legally be in the form of e-mail contact, and to use 
writing could suggest that contact will be made by post only.

Southern water Page 5 - Planning Document Preparation Process - Examination & Adoption 
- For the sake of clarity and to reflect the requirements of Reg 22 © of Town & 
Country Planning (Local Planning)(England)Regulations 2012, the second 
sentence should be amended to 'Summarise and make publically available the 
issues raised by representations received during consultation, and set out how 
these have been taken into account'. The Council's response to individual 
representation made during the planning policy process is beneficial to Southern 
Water as it helps us to understand the Council's position and gives us the 
opportunity to clarify any misunderstandings before a document reaches the 
submission stage. Therefore, the commitment to provide summaries of the main 
issues and how these were taken into account in terms od DPDs and SPDs would 
be welcomed.

This box is intended as a summary table. Regulation 22 sets 
out the information that must be provided to the examiner. 
This has been addressed by incorporating - Submit DPDs 
and supporting documentation to Secretary of State for 
independent examination.  The commitment to summarising 
and making available comments submitted as part of the 
consultation is in addition to this legal requirement and has 
not therefore been amended.

P
age 87



Appendix 2 SCI 2016 Consultation Responses

2

Consultee Representation Outcome
Page 6 - Who will be consulted? - Welcome the inclusion of 'relevant 
sewerage and water undertakers' as specific consultation bodies. This 
enables SW to highlight planning policy issues that relate to provision of 
water and wastewater at an early stage in the plan preparation process.

Comments noted. No change required

Page 7 - Neighbourhood Planning - for the sake of clarity and to reflect 
the requirements of Reg 14 (b) of Town & Country Planning 
(Neighbourhood Planning)(England) Regulations 2012, paragraph 2 of this 
sections should be amended to include reference to the 'consultation 
bodies' that should be consulted as a requirement of Regulation 14 (b). 
Given that planning decisions will be made in accordance with NPs, it is 
considered that it would be of assistance to those involved in the process 
to have a section detailing the pre-submission consultation and publicity 
process. Again, we would look for a commitment to consult consultation 
bodies, such as SW.

Regulation 14 consultations are carried out by the local 
community and not by Horsham District Council. It is not the 
remit of this SCI to set out how local communities should 
undertake these consultations, which are likely to vary to 
some degree depending on the nature of each community.  
Notwithstanding this however,  HDC does work closely with 
neighbourhood planning groups to ensure that regulatory 
requirements are met, and consultation bodies including 
southern water are consulted as part of this process.  No 
changes proposed. 

Southern 
Water

Page 10 - Planning Application Publicity - Whilst not a statutory 
consultee on planning applications, it is important that SW is consulted on 
major applications that may impact on the provision of water and 
wastewater services to existing customers, for example, if the proposed 
development affects access to SW's operational assets, including 
underground mains and sewers. Accordingly, it is suggested that reference 
to those that will be notified of applications in the 4th bullet point is widened 
from 'parish/neighbourhood councils' to include 'and relevant service 
providers'.

Noted. Paragraph amended to read:  Consult all 
parish/neighbourhood councils, statutory consultees and 
other relevant organisations on appropriate applications 
within their parish/neighbourhood or administrative area.

Mole Valley 
District Council

No amendments proposed. Comments noted. No change required

Horsham Town 
Community 
Partnership

Raises specific comments on the current (as opposed to this draft) SCI - 
regarding factual inaccuracies regarding the name of youth groups and 
lack of reference to the Horsham Town Community Partnership.  It is 
suggested that this is updated and that reference to the HTCP is added to 
the document.  

Whilst these comments relate to the existing SCI,  the fact 
that these references were out of date were behind the 
reasons for redrafting the SCI. In the new document, 
references to youth groups have been made more general to 
allow for organisational name changes. Local community 
partnerships have been added to the list of consultees on 
page 7.

P
age 88



Appendix 2 SCI 2016 Consultation Responses

3

Consultee Representation Outcome
Page 5 - Early Engagement - The second point should read 'Notify key 
stakeholders including Councillors, Parish Councillors, Neighbourhood 
Councillors, local groups and organisations'

Reference to Neighbourhood Councils incorporated as 
suggested. 

Page 6 & 7 - Under 'Who will be consulted' add  'Horsham District Older 
Peoples Forum'

Reference to Older persons groups / organisations has been 
made as suggested

Page 7 - 'Full Council' 2nd sentence - there is either a word missing or an 
extra 'and' as the sentence does not make sense '…the budget, which 
includes and Development …'

Noted. Sentence clarified to read: It is responsible for 
approving or adopting the Council budget and other key 
documents affecting the whole district, such as Development 
Plan Documents and Plans and Strategies (such as the 
HDPF).

Page 8 - 'In some areas residents associations or other bodies may be 
interested in drawing up a Neighbourhood Plan and act as a forum; 
however, this will been to be carried out with the Parish/Neighbourhood 
Council(s) who initiate and support the project'. This sentence is 
completely inaccurate and needs rewriting. NCs cannot initiate or support a 
project; only HDC can designate a Neighbourhood Forum. This has been 
done for the un-parished part of Horsham by Horsham Blueprint on behalf 
of the three NCs.

This section has been clarified to make this point that HDC 
can designate a Neighbourhood Forum in unparished areas.  
In Horsham District, the vast majority of which is parished, it 
is the Parish Council who prepares a Neighbourhood Plan.  A 
Neighbourhood Plan can cover all or part of a parish and in 
some cases may involve a number of parishes if they choose 
to ‘cluster.’   In unparished areas, where there is a desire 
from the community to produce a neighbourhood plan, it is 
necessary to form a Neighbourhood Forum or Forums to 
cover the unparished area. Alternatively, a Parish Council 
can include unparished areas, subject to the approval of the 
Local Authority who designate the Neighbourhood Plan area. 

Denne 
Neighbourhood 
Council

Page 8 - 'The Council will seek to provide support and advice on a range 
of issues, including consultation and the process of document production'. 
The phrase 'will seek to provide' is little more than vague hope and should 
be replaced by 'The Council will seek to provide support'. What does 
'range of issues' mean exactly? Anything could be included or excluded.

In order to clarify this point, the following sentence has been 
added: This is set out in more detail in the Council’s offer of 
support which can be viewed on the neighbourhood planning 
section of the Council’s website.

P
age 89



Appendix 2 SCI 2016 Consultation Responses

4

Consultee Representation Outcome
Page 9 - Developers undertaking pre-application are asked to address the 
following: 'Set clear objectives and agree the consultation approach with 
Development Management including who will be consulted'. Please ensure 
it is clear that consultees should include PCs & NCs, all too frequently 
developers fail to consult NCs.

This section does not identify any specific organisations - no 
specific change to the document required. However, officers 
will continue to request that consultations are undertaken 
with parish and neighbourhood councils

Page 10 - 'Use different engagement approaches' - this is vague and gives 
no idea of specific, recommended options e.g. contacting individuals and 
groups, public exhibitions and advertising.

This section is primarily aimed at developers, who are asked 
to agree the consultation approach with DM. This will include 
the different methods, (or engagement approaches) for 
consulting communities and individuals. No change required.

Page 10 - 'Consult all parish/neighbourhood councils on appropriate 
applications within their area'. Please clarify what is meant by 'appropriate'.

This sentence has now been redrafted to set out that other 
statutory and other consultees will be consulted. In terms of 
appropriate, this will depend on the type and scale of an 
application - for example, Historic England would not be 
consulted on a proposal on an unlisted building away from 
any other area of historic importance.  No change required. 

Denne 
Neighbourhood 
Council

Page 12 - Development Committee - Amend sentence as shown 'The 
case officer recommendation is contrary to the view of the relevant Parish 
or Neighbourhood Council and the Parish or Neighbourhood Council have 
requested the opportunity to address the Committee'.

Noted - sentence amended

Waverley 
Borough 
Council

Thank you HDC for consulting Waverley. No comments to make.  Noted - no change required. 

Pulborough 
Parish Council

The Planning & Services Committee have instructed me to advise that they 
could see no significant differences. 

 Noted - no change required. 

P
age 90



Appendix 2 SCI 2016 Consultation Responses

5

Consultee Representation Outcome
1. “The preparation of Neighbourhood Plans follows a formal legal process, 
and is subject to a minimum of two stages of consultation undertaken first 
by the local community and then by the Council.”

There is not a legal process for the preparation of a Neighbourhood 
Development Plan (NDP). The NDP must meet certain regulations and 
planning guidance in the same way as a Local Plan, but the process of 
preparation prior to consultation is not specified by legislation. It is a 
requirement that the local community should be engaged in the plan 
making process as widely as possible prior to consultation on the first draft 
of the NDP.

This section was drafted to set out that the preparation of a 
NDP much undertake certain statutorily required 
consultations - this was what was intended by the reference 
to process.  Nevertheless the wording has been amended to 
ensure that this point is clarified. The sentence now reads 
"The preparation of Neighbourhood Plans must undertake a 
minimum of two stages of consultation undertaken first by the 
local community and then by the Council. "

Horsham 
Blueprint 
Neighbourhood 
Forum 2. “If recommended by the Examiner, the next stage of plan preparation is 

to submit the plan to a referendum where the local community can vote on 
whether the plan should be used to determine planning applications in the 
Neighbourhood Plan area. If more than 50% of the community vote ‘yes’, 
then the plan will then be ‘Made’ by Horsham District Council (a similar 
process to the formal adoption of a DPD.”

Strictly speaking, this should say, “If more than 50% of the vote is in favour 
of the NDP, then the plan will be ‘Made’”. There is no requirement for a 
certain proportion of the community to vote in the referendum.

Noted. This point has been clarified as suggested. 

3. “In a parished area like Horsham District it is usually the Parish Council 
who prepares a Neighbourhood Plan. A Neighbourhood Plan can cover all 
or part of the parish and in some cases may involve a number of parishes 
where they choose to cluster. In some areas residents associations or 
other bodies may be interested in drawing up a Neighbourhood Plan and 
act as a forum; however, this will need to be carried out with the 
Parish/Neighbourhood Council(s) who initiate and support the project.”

There are numerous mistakes here. Firstly, the majority of Horsham 
District may be parished, but the Horsham Town area is unparished and is 
represented by the three Neighbourhood Councils; Horsham Denne 
Neighbourhood Council, Horsham Forest Neighbourhood Council and 

This section has been clarified to make this point that HDC 
can designate a Neighbourhood Forum in unparished areas.  
In Horsham District, the vast majority of which is parished, it 
is the Parish Council who prepares a Neighbourhood Plan.  A 
Neighbourhood Plan can cover all or part of a parish and in 
some cases may involve a number of parishes if they choose 
to ‘cluster.’   In unparished areas, where there is a desire 
from the community to produce a neighbourhood plan, it is 
necessary to form a Neighbourhood Forum or Forums to 
cover the unparished area. Alternatively, a Parish Council 
can include unparished areas, subject to the approval of the 
Local Authority who designate the Neighbourhood Plan area. 

P
age 91



Appendix 2 SCI 2016 Consultation Responses

6

Consultee Representation Outcome
Horsham Trafalgar Neighbourhood Council. The Neighbourhood Councils 
are not recognised by the legislation as eligible bodies for the preparation 
of an NDP. It was therefore necessary to form a Neighbourhood Forum or 
Forums to cover the unparished area. There are rules governing the 
formation of a Neighbourhood Forum, but these do not require any 
involvement of the Neighbourhood Councils as these are not recognised 
by the legislation. There is a requirement for there to be at least 21 
members of the Forum, and these should include people who live in, work 
in or represent the area covered by the Forum. Neighbourhood Forums 
have their own distinct constitutions and are separate from any other 
organisations, including residents’ associations. 
It should be noted too, that in those areas with a Parish Council, the Parish 
is the only organisation which is eligible to produce an NDP. It is expected 
that a parish will involve the wider community with the production of the 
NDP, but there is no scope within the legislation for any other body to have 
this responsibility. There is therefore no possibility of a Neighbourhood 
Forum being formed within a Parish area, and no Forum may include any 
of a neighbouring Parish within its own area. This is not true in reverse, as 
a Parish may include an unparished area within its area, subject to 
approval by the Local Planning Authority which designates the NDP area. 

Horsham 
Blueprint 
Neighbourhood 
Forum

4. There is another situation which has been over-looked by the Statement. 
This is that the LPA has the right to designate a Neighbourhood Area as a 
Business Neighbourhood Area if they “consider that the area is wholly or 
predominantly business in nature”. This has been the case with the 
Horsham Town Area which has been designated as a Business 
Neighbourhood Area. Horsham Blueprint Neighbourhood Forum was 
designated as the Forum for this Area which includes the entire unparished 
area represented by the three Neighbourhood Councils.
In this instance there will be two referendums; one for residents and one 
for non-domestic rate-payers. There needs to be a 50% majority in both for 
the NDP to be “Made”. If there is not a majority in either of the 
referendums, then the LPA has to decide whether or not to bring the NDP 
into force. Useful website suggested. 

Whilst this is noted, this section is intended to give a very 
general overview to Neighbourhood Planning, with more 
detail on the Council's website.  This particular scenario does 
not apply to the vast majority of Horsham District, and would 
introduce unnecessary complexity into this document. This 
information will be provided in relation to the blueprint area 
as this plan is produced.  No change proposed.

P
age 92



Appendix 2 SCI 2016 Consultation Responses

7

Consultee Representation Outcome
Page 9: Pre-application Consultation
 This needs to include all organisations with responsibility for preparing an 
NDP.

This section does not identify any specific organisations - no 
specific change to the document required. However, officers 
will continue to request that consultations are undertaken 
with parish and neighbourhood councils, including any 
relationship with a NDP.Horsham 

Blueprint 
Neighbourhood 
Forum

Page 10 : Planning Application Publicity

5. “Consult all parish/neighbourhood councils on appropriate applications 
within their parish/neighbourhood”

It would be helpful if this could also include Horsham Blueprint 
Neighbourhood Forum. 

This section has been amended to read:  Consult all 
parish/neighbourhood councils, statutory consultees and 
other relevant organisations on appropriate applications 
within their parish/neighbourhood or administrative area. This 
change covers the Blueprint Neighbourhood Forum.

Slinfold Parish 
Council

Slinfold Parish Council would like to see the consultation period for 
responding to Planning Applications extended from 21 days to 5 weeks.  If 
this is not possible then it would it be possible to include in your 
procedures a mechanism whereby if the Planning Officer decides an 
application between 3 and 5 weeks that they ask for comments from the 
PC when they have not received them. It is often difficult for smaller Parish 
Councils to respond to applications within 21 days when they may only 
meet once a month

Whilst it is understood that Parish Councils have to 
programme their own meetings, the Horsham District Council 
are required determine the vast majority of planning 
applications within an 8 week timescale. If this is not 
achieved then the Planning Department is at risk of being 
designated by DCLG, and well as being heavily criticised by 
service users. As such, it is not possible to extend 
consultation periods beyond the national statutory timeframe, 
as this would slow the determination of applications down 
and result in a real risk of designation, which would mean 
that applications could then be determined by central 
government and not locally. It is recommended that if 
concerns arise in relation to specific applications in this 
respect that the Parish Council contact the case officer as 
soon as possible to discuss the next steps.  

Broadbridge 
Heath Parish 
Council

One observation on consultation is the time given to Parish Council’s to 
respond to consultations.  This one is a very good example whereby HDC 
notified the PC on 29th September with a request to respond in a little over 
5 weeks.  Parish Council’s meet monthly with a week’s lead in time for an 
agenda.  Under normal circumstances the consultation would be notified at 
one meeting, digested and considered during the month and feedback 

Whilst it is understood that Parish Councils have to 
programme their own meetings, the Horsham District Council 
are required determine the vast majority of planning 
applications within an 8 week timescale. If this is not 
achieved then the Planning Department is at risk of being 
designated by DCLG, and well as being heavily criticised by 

P
age 93



Appendix 2 SCI 2016 Consultation Responses

8

Consultee Representation Outcome
agreed at the next.  A 5 week consultation period does not allow sufficient 
time for a PC to properly consider their response. Please can HDC allow at 
least 2 months for Parish Council’s to respond to consultations

service users. As such, it is not possible to extend 
consultation periods beyond the national statutory timeframe, 
as this would slow the determination of applications down 
and result in a real risk of designation, which would mean 
that applications could then be determined by central 
government and not locally It is recommended that if 
concerns arise in relation to specific applications in this 
respect that the Parish Council contact the case officer as 
soon as possible to discuss the next steps.  

KTI Energy 
Limited

General remarks made on Horsham and Crawley Local Plan and KTI 
Energy Ltd's proposals for an energy plant in the West of Crawley area. No 
specific comments made on the content of the SCI. 

Noted - no change to the document required. 

Surrey County 
Council

Pleased to note the reference in the SCI made to the county council as a 
specific consultation body required to be consulted on HDPF planning 
documents. We have no further comments to make on this document.

Noted - no change to the document required. 

Historic 
England

Historic England has no comments to make on the above consultation 
document.

Noted - no change to the document required. 

Storrington and 
Sullington 
Parish Council

The section on Neighbourhood Planning is different to the existing SCI.  To 
us it seems to give HDC a formal/legal ability to intervene which was not 
there before – is this the case?

This section has been updated to reflect more accurately the 
position on Neighbourhood Planning which has evolved since 
the current SCI.  The wording has been clarified as a result of 
other comments made as part of this consultation to set out 
that the preparation of a NDP requires two formal stages of 
consultation and independent examination.  No change 
required.

P
age 94



Appendix 2 SCI 2016 Consultation Responses

9

Consultee Representation Outcome
A whole new section has been added in the new second paragraph. A 
subtle change in emphasis from the words “broader policies set out in the 
Council’s local planning documents” to “strategic polices set out in the 
Council’s local planning documents” followed by the new part which details 
the two stages of consultation (emphasising local  community AND input 
from the Council), then the process of Independent examiner and 
referendum. 

As set out above this is change in the wording is to reflect the 
requirements of NDP production, which has evolved since 
the current SCI. No change required. 

Storrington and 
Sullington 
Parish Council

One area whereby there is a change is the old 6.8 which referred to 
Neighbour Notifications.
Previously there were terms such as “..by selecting those neighbours who 
are immediately adjoining the application site. Additionally, further 
notification may be carried out following the case officer’s visit to the site. 
Alternatively if appropriate a site notice may be displayed.”
This has been watered down to “..This will vary according to the type of 
application: methods of notification MAY include adjoining neighbour 
notifications and displaying site notices.”  Members feel that all neighbours 
should be informed as a matter of course i.e. not “MAY” be informed.

As set out in the earlier section of this paragraph, the type of 
notification undertaken will depend on the type of application.  
For example, on very rural, isolated sites as part of larger 
land holdings, site notices may be a better method of 
informing affected parties of an application . No change 
required.P

age 95



Appendix 2 SCI 2016 Consultation Responses

10

Consultee Representation Outcome
There is also an understandable greater emphasis on the online planning 
service “Public Access”.  However, members have received complaints 
from residents who do not use the internet and because the library no 
longer has a help desk they are unable to view any planning applications 
should they so wish, without having to contact the Parish Council.  A lot of 
local people did not know the end date for the Glebe input for comments.  
As a result of this members believe notification should be strengthened not 
watered down.

In the current financial climate, local authority resources are 
increasingly limited. Online resources enable a large section 
of the population to read and view planning applications.  It is 
not however possible for the authority to inform all residents 
in a settlement of every application and the SCI sets out a 
range of mechanisms by which they they are advertised, 
including timescales for response.  Members of the public 
who do not use online resources are still able to contact the 
Council through a variety of means including the telephone, 
whereby assistance and advice can be provided on how to 
comment on planning applications.  Contact numbers are 
provided in the SCI. No change required

Overall there is a lot less detail than the existing document but it does 
seem to cover all legal requirements of engagement regarding planning.

Noted - no change to the document required. 

P
age 96



Report to Cabinet 

26 January  2017
By the Cabinet member for Planning and Development
INFORMATION REPORT

Not Exempt 

Response to the recommendation from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to alter the procedure in relation to how Members are 
involved in the s106 process

Executive Summary

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee have made some recommendations to change the 
procedures in relation to how Members are involved in the s106 process. The Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee suggested six changes to procedure that they consider will 
ensure Members can be involved more (the suggested changes are attached at appendix 
1 of this report). 

Recommendations

That Cabinet notes that the Cabinet Member for Planning and Development:

i) Amends recommendation 1 of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 
remove the words ‘this advice should also indicate if the application is likely 
to be subject of an S106 agreement’ and replace them with ‘to improve the 
layout of the weekly list to make it more clear what applications are major, 
and therefore likely to be subject to a s106 agreement’.  And to agree 
recommendation 1 as amended.

ii) Amends recommendations 2 and 6 of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
to form a single recommendation that “The relevant Ward Members and 
Chairman of that Committee should be notified of the proposed “Heads of 
Terms Requirements” of the S106 agreement at the same time as the Legal 
Department are instructed to draft an agreement.” And to agree 
recommendation 2 as amended

iii) Agrees Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommendations 3 (on significant 
schemes), 4 and 5, as set out in Appendix 2 to this report.

Reasons for Recommendations

i) That the Cabinet Member considers and responds to the recommendation of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to alter internal procedures

ii) To ensure that Ward Members have the opportunity to get involved within the s106 
process

Page 97

Agenda Item 10a



Background Papers

Agenda and minutes of Working Groups and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
2015/2016 are published on the Council’s website.

Wards affected: All Wards

Contact: Aidan Thatcher, Development Manager

Page 98



Background Information

1 Introduction and Background

1.1 In 2016/16, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee could create ‘working groups’ to 
ensure the effective, efficient and economic discharge of the Council's overview and 
scrutiny function.  Upon the receipt of a report from a working group, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee have recommended changes to internal procedures to 
improve the communication between Officers and Members during the course of 
preparation of a s106 agreement.  

2 Relevant Council policy

2.1 Corporate Priority 2015/16 4, Living, Working Communities, HDPF.

3 Details

3.1 The Business Improvement Working Group initiated a review of the s106 process 
and this took place through a series of meetings between October 2015 and April 
2016. This was to allow the Members of that Group to fully understand the current 
process from the initial stages of a s106 agreement being prepared, through to it 
being finalised, and the subsequent monitoring process.  

3.2 The outcome was six recommendations being made, to alter the internal 
procedures in dealing with s106 agreements. As such, I deal with each of these 
recommendations in turn below. 

Recommendation 1:

1. When members are notified of a major application (ie ten units or above) in their 
ward, this advice should also indicate if the application is likely to be subject of 
an S106 agreement. This would give the members an opportunity to take advice 
from Parish Councils as to opportunity and requirements and relay this 
information to the case officer before instructions are issued to the Legal Team 
to prepare draft agreement.

3.3 Members are currently notified of planning applications via the weekly list, and 
within this it details the application type. If the application is a Major, this is defined, 
and therefore, is likely to be subject to a s106 agreement. As such it not considered 
that a further entry setting out likely s106 requirements is reliable or necessary. 
However, officers are looking to review the format of the weekly list to ensure that 
the major schemes stand out on the list and this is currently progressing with the 
ICT team.  

3.4 As such the first recommendation is amended by the removal of the words ‘this 
advice should also indicate if the application is likely to be subject of an S106 
agreement’ and their replacement with ‘to improve the layout of the weekly list to 
make it more clear what applications are major, and therefore likely to be subject to 
a s106 agreement’.  

Page 99



Recommendation 2 (and 6):

2. Members should be notified of the proposed “Heads of Terms Requirements” of 
the S106 agreement at the same time as the Legal Department are instructed to 
draft an agreement.

This would give the members a further opportunity to have discussions with the 
case officer. The member would also then be aware of the start of the 
“Consultation Period” and would have the opportunity to keep in touch with any 
responses to the consultation document.

3.5 It is clearly possible that when the case officer instructs the legal department, they 
can also provide that same information to the Ward Members to facilitate increased 
awareness of the s106 process. 

3.6 It is noted that recommendation 6 is similar, in that this suggests the Chairman of 
the relevant planning committee should be copied into that same email to allow for 
wider circulation to other Members where appropriate, e.g. where a scheme is close 
to a Ward boundary. Recommendation 6 reads as follows:

6. The Chairman of the relevant planning committees would be sent copies of 
all the Heads of Terms at the same time that they are sent to Local 
Members. It would then be at the discretion of the Chairmen whether 
members from other wards should be sent the information as well. 

3.7 As such it is proposed to merge these two recommendations into one, which will be 
an altered recommendation 2, with 6 then deleted, to read as follows:

“The relevant Ward Members and Chairman of that Committee should be notified of 
the proposed “Heads of Terms Requirements” of the S106 agreement at the same 
time as the Legal Department are instructed to draft an agreement.”

This can now be agreed.

Recommendation 3:

3. That a “Clawback” clause be included in all in future S106 agreements where 
the proportion of affordable housing does not meet the required level, following 
negotiation through a viability agreement.

3.8 This is something that can be inserted into the draft s106 template to ensure that 
where viability does not meet the policy requirement in significant development 
proposals, it is captured if the viability of the scheme subsequently changes. 

3.9 This will have an impact on staffing, as additional resource will be required to 
monitor this, from the Planning Obligations Officer. However, this is considered 
reasonable and can be supported on significant schemes.

Page 100



Recommendation 4:

4.  At briefings on planning applications the officers will present a summary of the 
Heads of Terms within current S106 agreements being negotiated 

3.10 This usually happens but can be absorbed into the briefing process formally so that 
Members have increased knowledge of the s106 package as it becomes known. 

Recommendation 5:

5. Heads of Terms within committee reports should explained in more detail than 
currently is the practice

3.11 This recommendation will require the committee report templates to be altered to 
allow for this information to be captured consistently within committee reports. As 
such it is relatively straightforward and can be done. 

4 Next Steps

4.1 The decision of the Cabinet Member in respect of the recommendation from the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will result in the following steps to be taken:

1. A change of internal procedure and instruction to planning staff to advise the 
relevant Ward members and Chair of Committee of the proposed Heads of 
Terms at the same time as the legal team are instructed;

2. A review of the standard s106 templates to include a clawback mechanism 
where the affordable housing secured is lower that policy requirements on 
significant schemes;

3. Include a discussion on the s106 offer at all planning briefings; and
4. Reviewing the Planning Committee report template to include a section to 

clearly set out the Heads of Terms of any s106 agreements. 

5 Outcome of Consultations

5.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Finance and Performance Working Group 
and the Business Improvement Working Group formed the consultees in the 
preparation of the recommendations to Cabinet. 

6 Other Courses of Action Considered but Rejected

6.1 The Council could choose not to amend its procedures. This course of action was 
rejected due to the Council seeking to improve the collaborative working 
relationship between Members and Officers.  

7 Resource Consequences

7.1 The Council’s robust reporting of financial and performance information has 
enabled Members to consider how to address the financial implications of planning 
decisions on the Council. The recommended process enables the Council to 
mitigate the financial risks appropriately.

Page 101



7.2  There will be staffing implications for the Development Management and Legal 
officers in setting up the new processes and procedures, templates and undertaking 
the requirements of the new working practices but these are not considered to be 
significant

8 Legal Consequences

8.1 These recommendations demonstrate the effective discharge of the Overview and 
Scrutiny functions provided by the Local Government Act 2000 as amended by the 
Localism Act 2011, by the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

. 

9 Risk Assessment

10.1 The recommendations within this report are part of mitigating risk that Members feel 
detached from the s106 process and to improve on joint working and collaboration. 

10 Other Considerations

10.1 The consequences of these recommendations in respect of Crime & Disorder; 
Human Rights; Equality & Diversity and Sustainability have been actively 
considered and it is considered that there are no specific issues in this respect.

Page 102



Agenda Item 6a

11

Business Improvement Working Group

Final Report on S 106 review

This review was initiated by the members of the Scrutiny & Overview Committee at the 
meeting on 14th September 2015 and suggestions received from members of the public 
with regard to items for the work programme for the year. It was clear from the initial 
S&O meeting that there was a perceived lack of consistency and transparency over the 
last few years with regard to the negotiation and agreement of current S106 agreements 
on major projects.

At the first meeting of the BIWG following the September S&O meeting on 13th October 
2015 the process of reaching a final S106 agreement was outlined by the Development 
Manager. The working Group was then able to agree the Terms of Reference. 

Terms of Reference
 Establish and clarify the existing process with a view to producing a briefing 

suitable for District & Parish Councillors

 Review West of Southwater strategic site as a case study to inform future major 
applications

 Review monitoring process

 Review financial reporting that is made available to District & parish Councillors

 Establish how Local Members can become involved in the process of S106 
negotiation at an appropriate stage

 Be mindful of the impending changes to the process that the introduction of CIL 
would bring

 It was also agreed that additional meetings would be held on a monthly basis so 
that this review could be completed by April 2016

At the S&O meeting of 9th November it was agreed that two further items would 
be added to the Terms of Reference for the review being ;-

 Financial Appraisal of S106 outcomes in relation to affordable homes ratio

 Commission an immediate comparison analysis of S106 agreements supported 
by contributions from officers and a specialist firm of suitably qualified external 
legal advisors

Page 103



Agenda Item 6a
Business Improvement Working Group – Final Report on S 106 review (Continued)

12

In order to carry out this review it was essential that members of the working group had 
a clear understanding of the process, the timescales and the implications of 
Government Guidelines (See appendix 1). 

The November meeting focused on clarifying the existing process for the members.  To 
this end the Development Manager presented a schedule “The S106 process” to the 
members of the group outlining the process and timescale from receiving a planning 
application through to the final engrossment of the finalised S106 Agreement.  There 
are two departments involved in this process and it is critical that there is good 
communication between departments and that each department is adequately 
resourced to cope with demand. Any failure in the inter-action between departments 
results in deadlines being missed which effect the statistics which are returned to 
Government who monitor the performance of all councils.

Summary of S106 Legal process
 Brief Instructions received from Case Officer
 Further Instructions/clarifications sort
 Undertaking for costs and proof of title requested from owner.
 Agreement drafted
 Draft sent to case officer and/or housing officer and West Sussex County Council 

for comment/approval
 WSCC will at this stage request its own undertaking for costs and may also insist 

on checking the title.
 Draft amended
 Draft sent to owner for comment
 Usually a process of negotiation in relation to the terms at this stage
 Final agreement circulated for approval
 Engrossments printed and sent for signature
 Engrossments returned and signed and completed in house
 Notification of completion circulated to case officer, local members etc.

Page 104



Agenda Item 6a
Business Improvement Working Group – Final Report on S 106 review (Continued)

13

PLANNING LEGAL INSTRUCTION SCHEDULE  S106 – PROCESS

TASK RESPONSIBILITY ACTION REQUIRED TIME LINE 

Validation 
of 
application 

Team Leader/
Principal Officer  

Check content of application and validate
Within 2 
working 
days of 
receipt   

Case 
Review 

Team Leader/
Case Officer 
(TL/CO) 

TL/CO  To identify likely recommendation and need 
for s106

Instructions to be checked by Team Leader

Send instructions to Legal Services via paper and or 
email including planning application, location plan, 
committee report (if any) and any other relevant 
information. Instruction memo to have determination 
date on it and details of agent and or solicitor.  

On Day 21  

By date 28 

 

Draft 
s106/
Unilateral 

Legal 
Instructions given to Principal Planning Solicitor who 
will assign matter to lawyer or outsource matter and 
ask Admin to set up new paper file and file on CIVICA 
(case management and time recording system) 

Admin to set up new paper file and CIVICA file and 
send out client care letter to case officer.  

Lawyer  to advise if  information is inadequate within 
two days of receipt of instructions

Lawyer will endeavour to carry out the following tasks 
within three days of receipt of instructions 
Send out initial letter to applicant or agent or solicitor  
notifying of instructions to prepare legal agreement 
and requesting, within 7 days, the following 
information

Page 105



Agenda Item 6a
Business Improvement Working Group – Final Report on S 106 review (Continued)

14

Case Officer

Office Copy Entries (to ascertain ownership of the site 
and any legal interests in it)
Undertaking for Costs (the Council’s legal, planning 
and monitoring costs must be paid). 

• Contact  by email WSCC legal 
team manager notifying of new 
legal agreement and requesting 
that the matter is allocated to 
lawyer

• Contact by email planning case 
officer confirming that legal 
agreement will be drafted and 
request further information if 
required. 

Draft s106 – send to case officer, solicitor, WSCC and 
any other party.

Response/comments required from solicitor and 
WSCC

Draft s106 to be available by Committee date where 
case is to be considered by committee (if possible). 
Lawyer to advise case officer when committee target 
cannot be met and why.

to review content of draft s106 

  

Within 7 
days of 
receipt of 
draft 
agreement

By 
Committee 
date or day 
40

Within 7 
days of 
receipt of 
draft 106 
from Legal 

Negotiate 
s106/UU

Legal Conduct negotiations and seek agreement of draft, 
plans and conditions

Before 
determination 
date

Page 106



Agenda Item 6a
Business Improvement Working Group – Final Report on S 106 review (Continued)

15

Draft 
Decision 
Notice  

Case Officer 
Case officer to check all drawings and prepare draft 
decision notice  

Within no 
more that 
10 days of 
recommend
ation/ 
resolution to 
grant 
planning 
permission 

Final S106 
Unilateral 

Legal 
Legal to get s106/Unilateral engrossed and signed by 
all parties and costs paid within the statutory time 
period unless otherwise agreed. Seek extension of 
time if date is due to expire. 

Within 
8/13/16 
weeks 
(unless 
timescale 
extended in 
writing or 
subject to 
PPA)

A very detailed discussion was had by the members regarding the schedule and the 
timescales contained therein. Members then addressed the issue of member 
involvement in the negotiation of S106 Agreements.  It was made very clear that all 
members feel very detached from this whole process and given the importance and 
implications of any S106 agreement to the local parish, and financial implications for the 
district, this is a situation that should be addressed.  Members should be fully aware of 
current agreements and provisions/community benefits that will result from them. Also 
there must be an established procedure for members to be able to put forward their 
views and that of their electorate to the negotiating team so that these views can be 
incorporated where possible into future agreements.

It was noted and agreed that the actual negotiation of the agreement between the Legal 
Team and the Developer involved commercially sensitive data being presented and that 
it would not be appropriate for any member to be present at this stage. However, it was 
clear that an opportune time for members to discuss the contents of the agreement with 
case officer needed to be identified and the “schedule of the process” had to be 
amended to reflect these timescales.

Page 107



Agenda Item 6a
Business Improvement Working Group – Final Report on S 106 review (Continued)

16

Members were also reminded that they currently have the right to contact the case 
officer of an application in their ward during the consultation period. Despite this, it was 
felt that this point in the process was often too late and that new recommendations 
should be made to address this. The working group therefore made the following 
recommendations;- 

1 When members are notified of a major application (ie ten units or above) in their 
ward, this advice should also indicate if the application is likely to be subject of an 
S106 agreement. This would give the members an opportunity to take advice 
from Parish Councils as to opportunity and requirements and relay this 
information to the case officer before instructions are issued to the Legal Team to 
prepare draft agreement.

2 Members should be notified of the proposed “Heads of Terms Requirements” of 
the S106 agreement at the same time as the Legal Department are instructed to 
draft an agreement.

This would give the members a further opportunity to have discussions with the 
case officer. The member would also then be aware of the start of the 
“Consultation Period” and would have the opportunity to keep in touch with any 
responses to the consultation document.

Members also had grave concerns about the monitoring of the trigger points within the 
agreement for payment of financial contributions and expressed concerns that these 
monies due were collected in a timely fashion. Another major concern was expressed 
with regard to how all the agreements were recorded and data kept in such a way that it 
could be accessed and data extracted accordingly.  The group were advised that a new 
post of “Planning Obligations Officer” had been created and was expected to be filled 
imminently and that this post would create a dedicated resource for the monitoring of 
S106 agreements which had not been available in the past.  Also that new software had 
been recently installed which now provides the capability to store this data correctly 
whereas in the past this had been done manually.

The January meeting focused on the West of Horsham, Countryside Homes Application 
as a case study to establish the process and see if it was fit for purpose. It was pointed 
out to the working group that it was not the remit of the group to question the actual final 
agreement but to establish if the process/procedure that was current at that time had 
been followed and if changes/recommendations to the process/procedure would benefit 
the district.

Page 108



Agenda Item 6a
Business Improvement Working Group – Final Report on S 106 review (Continued)

17

The Development Manager confirmed that the outline application had been made in  
2009 when the initial agreement was entered into. The number of affordable housing 
units (20%) had been established at this stage and the developer was not required to 
confirm the size of the units at this stage as this was established during the reserved 
matters applications. There was an avid discussion with regard to the term “Units”. The 
main point of concern being that outline stage agreeing a per-centage of the overall 
units being built does not give a true monetary value receivable from the development. 
Given that Government Guidelines do not require the developer to provide a detailed 
breakdown of the unit types the question was asked and discussed as to if HDC would 
benefit by agreeing a monetary value of the overall expected GDP as opposed to a per-
centage of the number of units to be built. By the time the reserved matters application 
comes before councillors planning approval for the outline application will already have 
been approved along with the terms of the S106 agreement. Therefore the final mix 
agreed could have a negative effect on contributions received by HDC, also that the 
local housing need was not being directly addressed at outline application stage.

The group was advised that this method was in accord with Government Guidelines and 
not within the remit of HDC to revise policy to accommodate the option of negotiating a 
monetary value. The group was further advised that in the determination of the type of 
unit required by the district that the housing need is reviewed in consultation with the 
housing manager so that HDC get the required type of unit to accommodate those on 
the housing list and this can be more beneficial than a fixed monetary value. The 
Council does, as is the case with the West of Horsham agreement, often include a 
“Clawback” clause to allow further contributions to be claimed in the instances where 
developers are making profits in excess of original projections. It was noted that in the 
past these have not been included within all S106 agreements. In order to mitigate this 
the group agreed the following recommendation;-

3 That a “Clawback” clause be included in all future S106 agreements where the 
proportion of affordable housing does not meet the required level and where a 
reduced level has been agreed following a review of the viability of the 
development.

The group was also reminded that whilst  HDC is responsible for the final agreement 
WSCC is also involved in the negotiation in respect of infrastructure. Unfortunately it 
was not within the remit of this group to comment on the performance of WSCC but to 
note that many of the delays in finalizing agreements and bringing applications to 
committee in a timely fashion are due to the poor response times from WSCC and that 
WSCC is now outsourcing work of this nature.

Page 109



Agenda Item 6a
Business Improvement Working Group – Final Report on S 106 review (Continued)

18

The working group questioned the process when an amendment is requested to the 
original S106 agreement. Members were advised that a viability study would be 
required if an amendment was requested. The viability study would then be scrutinised 
very often by external professionals before any recommendation would be brought 
before planning committee.

To further review the level of affordable housing being achieved from S106 agreements 
at a comparable time period it was agreed to review the agreement for Highwood, Land 
West of Horsham and the Crest Development , Kilnwood Vale.

The three S106 agreements were then compared for consistency. The variance 
between these agreements was noted in particular the Kilnwood Vale agreement. The 
major difference with this particular agreement was pin pointed to the fact that this 
agreement was negotiated in conjunction with Crawley and included provision for the 
requirements of Crawley. Therefore this stand-alone agreement could not be used as a 
comparison for the other two agreements.

It was also noted that at the time of these agreements the national economy was just 
starting to come out of recession.  Very few people were building or selling houses. 
Mortgages were harder to come by. HDC was not meeting Government targets set for 
new house building. HDC had to encourage developers to build in the district and it is 
without question that target affordable housing levels were negotiated to facilitate this 
requirement.

The use of templates as a negotiation tool was discussed and the Development 
Manager confirmed that 2 template formats are in place as a starting point for 
negotiations. (see appendix 3 & 4) but given the variables between each particular site 
and location it would not be possible to have any one standard template that fits all.
The idea of establishing an S106 review panel to review all S106 agreements and 
report back to local ward members has been explored. The Director of Planning, 
Economic Development & property has since advised that such a panel would in effect 
come under a planning function rather than a Scrutiny function and therefore would not 
be valid on legal grounds.    

Page 110



Agenda Item 6a
Business Improvement Working Group – Final Report on S 106 review (Continued)

19

The best route forward to ensure transparency and member involvement would be for 
the recommendations as stated on previous pages to be adopted as procedure along 
with:
 

4 At briefings on planning applications the officers will present a summary of the 
heads of terms within current S106 agreements being negotiated

5 Heads of Terms within committee reports should explained in more detail than 
currently is the practice

To accommodate the fact that some developments will cross 2 wards and in the case of 
large scale developments in the town which could impact on a number of wards a 
further recommendation was agreed;-

6 The Chairman of the relevant planning committees would be sent copies of all 
the Heads of Terms at the same time that they are sent to Local Members.  It 
would then be at the discretion of the Chairmen whether members from other 
wards should be sent the information as well. 

During the review the group discussed the ongoing negotiations with regard to North 
Horsham development. Given the size and scale of this development the group were 
assured that this would be treated as a one off development and that special 
arrangements would be implemented in respect of seminars and briefings to ensure that 
all members are advised of progress, have an opportunity to put forward their views and 
engage in this process. This would be for the benefit of all members not just local ward 
members affected by the development. 

Finally the group discussed the ongoing review in parliament of the Housing Bill and the 
changes that may be forthcoming on completion of this review. The impending 
introduction of CIL regulations later this year will have a major impact on the whole 
S106 process and the new guidelines that will result from this. Given this impending 
change any major recommendations for a change in process (other than those 
recommendations on previous pages) that could be made by this group would be 
ineffective and pointless. The recommendations contained within this report should be 
brought forward to Scrutiny & Overview and implemented immediately. These will if 
followed make the transition to CIL regulations a much smoother transition for all 
members and ensure full member involvement in the process.

Page 111



Agenda Item 6a
Business Improvement Working Group – Final Report on S 106 review (Continued)

20

Summary

Over the 6 months of this review the working group and the co-opted members have 
thoroughly gone through and reviewed the process used by HDC in the production of an 
S106 agreement.  Whilst it is generally felt that the process is not perfect, the working 
group acknowledges the constraints of Government Guidelines which dictate this 
process.

In reviewing the sample agreements detailed earlier no fault can be found with the 
implementation of the process at that time. It is acknowledged that the economy at that 
time had a detrimental impact on the benefits that may have been received by the 
district in comparison with the current position but given the circumstances of that time 
the best outcome that could have been achieved, was achieved. 

It should be noted in the work programme that this process should be reviewed again in 
12 months to monitor how the implementation of CIL regulations have affected this 
process and to monitor the introduction of the recommendations contained within this 
report to ensure they have had the desired effect with regard to member consultation 
and input.    

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all the members of the group for their 
conscientious and hard work and for their commitment shown in carrying out this 
review, which has been complicated and taxing because of the nature and complexity of 
S106 Agreements.   

Page 112



Agenda Item 6a
Business Improvement Working Group – Final Report on S 106 review (Continued)

21

 Recommendations within the Report:

1 When members are notified of a major application (ie ten units or above) in their 
ward, this advice should also indicate if the application is likely to be subject of an 
S106 agreement. This would give the members an opportunity to take advice 
from Parish Councils as to opportunity and requirements and relay this 
information to the case officer before instructions are issued to the Legal Team to 
prepare draft agreement.

2 Members should be notified of the proposed “Heads of Terms Requirements” of 
the S106 agreement at the same time as the Legal Department are instructed to 
draft an agreement.

This would give the members a further opportunity to have discussions with the 
case officer. The member would also then be aware of the start of the 
“Consultation Period” and would have the opportunity to keep in touch with any 
responses to the consultation document.

3 That a “Clawback” clause be included in all in future S106 agreements where the 
proportion of affordable housing does not meet the required level, following 
negotiation through a viability agreement.

4 At briefings on planning applications the officers will present a summary of the 
Heads of Terms within current S106 agreements being negotiated 

5 Heads of Terms within committee reports should explained in more detail than 
currently is the practice

6 The Chairman of the relevant planning committees would be sent copies of all 
the Heads of Terms at the same time that they are sent to Local Members. It 
would then be at the discretion of the Chairmen whether members from other 
wards should be sent the information as well. 

Brian O’Connell
Chairman of Business Improvement Working Group
April 2016

Page 113



Agenda Item 6a
Business Improvement Working Group – Final Report on S 106 review (Continued)

22
Page 114



Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham,
West Sussex  RH12 1RL

FORWARD PLAN

This notice sets out details of key decisions that the Cabinet or a Cabinet Member intend to make, and gives 28 days’ notice of the decision under the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.  The notice also includes details of 
other decisions the Council intends to make.

The reports and any background documents that have been used to inform the decisions will be available on the Council’s website 
(www.horsham.gov.uk) or by contacting Committee Services at the Council Offices.

Whilst the majority of the Council’s business will be open to the public, there will be occasions when the business to be considered contains 
confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information.  This is formal notice under the 2012 Regulations that part or all of the reports on the 
decisions referred to in the schedule may be private because they contain exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government 
Act 1972 (as amended) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing it. 

If you wish to make representations about why part or all of the papers should be open to the public, please contact Committee Services at least 10 
working days before the date on which the decision is to be taken.

If you wish to make representations to the Cabinet or Cabinet Member about the proposed decisions, please contact Committee Services to make your 
request.

P
age 115

A
genda Item

 11

http://www.horsham.gov.uk/


Please note that the decision date given in this notice may be subject to change.

To contact Committee Services:
E-mail: :  committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk
Tel: 01403 215123

What is a Key Decision?

A key decision is an executive decision which, is likely – 

(i) to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s 
budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or 

(ii) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the District.

P
age 116

mailto:committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk


Subject/Decision Decision Taker Date(s) of 
decision

Is all or part of 
this item likely 
to be dealt 
with in private

Contact Officer

Cabinet Member
(NB include name, title and email address)

1.  Budget 2017/18 and Council Tax 
resolution

Council 15 Feb 2017 Open Jane Eaton, Director of Corporate Resources
jane.eaton@horsham.gov.uk

Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets 
(Councillor Brian Donnelly)

2.  Appointment of Governance 
Committee

Council 15 Feb 2017 Open Paul Cummins, Head of Legal & Democratic 
Services (Monitoring Officer)
paul.cummins@horsham.gov.uk

3.  Approval of Calendar of Meetings 
for 2017/18

Council 15 Feb 2017 Open Tom Crowley, Chief Executive
Tom.crowley@horsham.gov.uk

4.  Billingshurst Supplementary 
Planning Document
Policy Development Advisory Group 
7 March 2017

Cabinet 30 Mar 2017 Open Barbara Childs, Head of Strategic Planning 
and Sustainability
barbara.childs@horsham.gov.uk

Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Development (Councillor Claire Vickers)

P
age 117



Subject/Decision Decision Taker Date(s) of 
decision

Is all or part of 
this item likely 
to be dealt 
with in private

Contact Officer

Cabinet Member
(NB include name, title and email address)

5.  Creation of a company for the 
development of temporary housing

Policy Development Advisory Group 
19 December 2016

Cabinet 30 Mar 2017 Open Brian Elliott, Property & Facilities Manager
brian.elliott@horsham.gov.uk

Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets 
(Councillor Brian Donnelly)

6.  Housing Strategy interim statement 
- a response to the July 2015 
budget and the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016

Policy Development Advisory Group 
23 January 2017

Cabinet 30 Mar 2017 Open Natalie Brahma-Pearl, Director of Community 
Services
natalie.brahma-pearl@horsham.gov.uk

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public 
Protection (Councillor Philip Circus)

7.  Horsham Town Centre Vision
Policy Development Advisory Group 
12 January 2017

Cabinet

Council

30 Mar 2017

26 Apr 2017

Open Barbara Childs, Head of Strategic Planning 
and Sustainability
barbara.childs@horsham.gov.uk

Leader (Councillor Ray Dawe)

P
age 118



Subject/Decision Decision Taker Date(s) of 
decision

Is all or part of 
this item likely 
to be dealt 
with in private

Contact Officer

Cabinet Member
(NB include name, title and email address)

8.  Site Allocations of Land 
Development Plan Document
Policy Development Advisory Group 
7 March 2017

Cabinet

Council

30 Mar 2017

26 Apr 2017

Open Barbara Childs, Head of Strategic Planning 
and Sustainability
barbara.childs@horsham.gov.uk

Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Development (Councillor Claire Vickers)

9.  Future of the Revenues and 
Benefits Service
Policy Development Advisory Group 
1 February 2017

Cabinet 30 Mar 2017 Open Jane Eaton, Director of Corporate Resources
jane.eaton@horsham.gov.uk

Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets 
(Councillor Brian Donnelly)

10.  Pay Policy Statement Council 26 Apr 2017 Open Robert Laban, HR & OD Manager
robert.laban@horsham.gov.uk

11.  Consideration of business case for 
shared building control service 
with Crawley and Arun councils

Policy Development Advisory Group 
12 January 2017

Cabinet September 
2017

Open Steve Shorrocks, Building Control Manager
stephen.shorrocks@horsham.gov.uk

Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Development (Councillor Claire Vickers)

P
age 119



Subject/Decision Decision Taker Date(s) of 
decision

Is all or part of 
this item likely 
to be dealt 
with in private

Contact Officer

Cabinet Member
(NB include name, title and email address)

P
age 120


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Shared Support Services: Conclusions and Recommendations
	7 Housing Benefit Subsidy & Future of the CenSus Revenues and Benefits Service
	8 Budget 2017/18 and Medium Term Financial Strategy to 2020/21
	Appendix A - Revenue Budget 2017-18
	Appendix B - Major items of growth and savings
	Appendix C - Grants to voluntary groups
	Appendix D - Special charge summary
	Appendix E i - Capex
	Appendix E ii - Capital programme new schemes
	Appendix F - MRP
	Appendix G - Prudential indicators
	Appendix H - New Homes Bonus
	Appendix I - Reserves

	9 Statement of Community Involvement
	Statement of Community Involvement Final 2016
	SCI_2016_Appendix2_consultation_responses

	10a Member involvement in the s106 process
	s106 amendment to procedure Report Appendix 2 BIWG Final Recommendations

	11 Forward Plan

